
 

 
 

PLANNING REGULATORY BOARD 
 

Date:- Thursday 8 April 2021 Venue:- Virtual Meeting 
Time:- 9.00 a.m.   
 

Meetings of the Planning Board can all be viewed by live webcast by following this link:- 
https://rotherham.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 

 

AGENDA 
 
 
1. To consider whether the press and public should be excluded from the meeting 

during consideration of any part of the agenda.  
  

 
2. To determine any items which the Chairman is of the opinion should be 

considered as a matter of urgency.  
  

 
3. Apologies for absence (substitution)  
  

 
4. Declarations of Interest (Page 5) 

 
(A form is attached and spares will be available at the meeting) 

 
5. Minutes of the previous meeting held on 18th March, 2021 (Pages 6 - 8) 
  

 
6. Deferments/Site Visits (information attached) (Pages 9 - 10) 
  

 
7. Development Proposals (Pages 11 - 69) 
  

 
8. Updates  
  

 
9. Date of next meeting - Thursday, 29th April, 2021 commencing at 9.00 a.m.  
  

 
Membership of the Planning Board 2020/21 

Chair – Councillor Sheppard 
Vice-Chair – Councillor Williams 

Councillors Atkin, Bird, D. Cutts, M. S. Elliott, McNeely, Rushforth, Sansome, Short, Steele, 
John Turner, Tweed, Walsh and Whysall. 

 

 
  
 
 
 

 

https://rotherham.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 

 
 

 
Planning Regulatory Board 

‘Public Right To Speak’ 
 

REGISTERING TO SPEAK 
 

REGISTERING TO SPEAK 
  
The Council has a “Right to Speak” policy, under which you may speak in the 
Planning Board meeting about an application. If you wish to do this, it is 
important that you complete a tear-off slip and return it with any written 
comments, within 21 days of the date of the notification letter back to the 
Planning Department.  
  
Your comments will be made known to the Planning Board when it considers 
the application and you will be written to advising of the date and time of the 
Planning Board meeting to exercise your right to speak  
  
  

IN THE CASE OF VIRTUAL MEETINGS 
  
If you wish to speak in the meeting, please try to arrive in the lobby ten 
minutes before the meeting starts.   
  
The agenda is available on line at least five days prior to the meeting and 
published on the Council’s website.  
  
The meeting is being filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the Council’s 
website and can be found at:-  
  
https://rotherham.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 
  
If anyone present or members of the public in the public galleries do not wish 
to have their image captured they should make themselves known to 
Democratic Services before the start of the meeting.  
  
  

YOUR RIGHT TO SPEAK 
  
The ‘right to speak’ applies equally to the applicant and to the general public.  
  
It is not intended that professional agents representing either the applicant or 
objectors, should be allowed to speak, but this is at the Chairman’s discretion.  
  
You will be invited to speak by the Chairman at the correct interval.  
  

https://rotherham.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 

 
 

Each speaker will be allowed three minutes to state his/her case.  The 
applicant does not have a “right to reply” to the objector(s) comments.  
  
Only planning related comments can be taken into consideration during the 
decision process.  
  

CONDUCT OF COMMITTEE MEETINGS 
  
Speakers should not be allowed to engage in discussion with members of the 
Committee during public speaking or the Committee deliberations, to avoid 
any risk of accusation of bias or personal interest.   
  
All attendees are reminded of the importance to remain calm, courteous and 
respectful during the meeting.  Please refrain from shouting out and allow 
people to speak.   Any person causing a disruption will be asked to leave the 
meeting. 
 



 

 
 

ROTHERHAM METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING BOARD 
 

MEMBERS’ DECLARATION OF INTEREST 
 

 
Your Name (Please PRINT):- 
 
 
Meeting at which declaration made:- 
 
 
Item/Application in which you have 
an interest:- 
 
 
Date of Meeting:- 
 
 
Time Meeting Started:- 
 
 

Please tick ( √ ) which type of interest you have in the appropriate box below:- 
 

 
1. Disclosable Pecuniary      
 
 
 
 

2. Personal  

 
 
 

Please give your reason(s) for you Declaring an Interest:- 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
N.B.  It is up to a Member to determine whether to make a Declaration.  However, if you should 
require any assistance, please consult the Legal Adviser or Governance Adviser prior to the meeting. 
 
 
 

     Signed:- …………………………..…………………………. 
 

(When you have completed this form, please hand it to the Governance Adviser.) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(Please continue overleaf if necessary) 

Page 4 Agenda Item 4



PLANNING BOARD - 18/03/21  
 

PLANNING BOARD 
Thursday 18 March 2021 

 
 
Present:- Councillor Sheppard (in the Chair); Councillors Bird, Cowles, D. Cutts, 
Khan, McNeely, Sansome, Short, Steele, John Turner, Walsh, Whysall and Williams. 
 

Apologies for absence:- Apologies were received from Councillors Atkin, M. Elliott 
and Tweed.  
 
The webcast of the Planning Meeting can be viewed at:-  
https://rotherham.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 
 
160.  

  
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 There were no items on the agenda to warrant exclusion of the press and 
public. 
 

161.  
  
MATTERS OF URGENCY  
 

 There were no matters of urgency for consideration. 
 

162.  
  
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 Councillor Sheppard declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in 

application RB2020/1655 (erection of 8 No. apartments at Former Sports 

and Social Club Rockcliffe Road Rawmarsh for AHS Properties) on the 
grounds that he had previously provided advice to local residents and left 
the meeting when this application was discussed.   
 

163.  
  
MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 

 Resolved:- That the minutes of the previous meeting of the Planning 
Regulatory Board held on Thursday, 25th February, 2021, be approved as 
a correct record of the meeting. 
 

164.  
  
DEFERMENTS/SITE VISITS (INFORMATION ATTACHED)  
 

 There were no site visits nor deferments recommended. 
 

165.  
  
DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS  
 

 Resolved:-  (1)  That, on the development proposals now considered, the 
requisite notices be issued and be made available on the Council’s 
website and that the time limits specified in Sections 91 and 92 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 apply. 
 
In accordance with the right to speak procedure, a number of people 
attended the meeting and spoke about the following applications:- 
 

Page 5 Agenda Item 5

https://rotherham.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 PLANNING BOARD - 18/03/21 
 

- Erection of 116 No. dwellinghouses, landscaping, public open space 
& associated infrastructure at Pitches Sports Club Wickersley Road 
Broom for Newett Homes Limited (RB2019/0539) 
 
Ms. E. Lancaster (on behalf of the Applicant) 
Mr. A. Fellows (Objector) 
Mr. P. Woodward (Objector) 
Mr. Alexander Stafford M.P. (Objector) 
Mr. S. Gillatt (Objector) 
Ms. R. Moss (Objector) 
Statements were also read out on behalf of Councillor B. Cutts 
(Objector) and Councillor K. Reeder (Objector). 

 
- Erection of 285 No. dwellinghouses with public open space, 

landscaping & construction of new access road at land at Oldcotes 
Road Dinnington for Harron Homes (RB2020/1346) 
 
Mr. A. Van Vliet (Applicant) 
Ms. V. Horner (Objector) 
Mr. M. Kent (Objector) 
Mr. A. Elliot (Objector) 
Mr. Alexander Stafford M.P. (Objector) 
Councillor J. Vjestica (Objector) 
Mr. L. Sadler (Objector) 
A statement was read out on behalf of Ms. K. Middleton (Objector). 

 
- Erection of 8 No. apartments at Former Sports and Social Club 

Rockcliffe Road Rawmarsh for AHS Properties (RB2020/1655) 
 
A statement was read out on behalf of Mr. M. Smith (Applicant). 

 
(2)  That the Planning Board declare that it was not favourably disposed 
towards application RB2019/0539 and that it be refused for the following 
reasons:- 
 
01 
The Local Planning Authority considers that the site represents an 
irreplaceable amenity and as such its loss cannot be compensated for. 
Accordingly the proposal is contrary to Local Plan Policy SP38 ‘Protecting 
Green Space’ which indicates that such sites will be protected from future 
development.  
 
02 
The Local Planning Authority also considers that in the absence of an up 
to date Playing Pitch Strategy there is insufficient evidence to 
demonstrate that the proposed mitigation is sufficient to provide 
replacement sporting facilities of an equivalent or better provision in terms 
of quantity and quality in accordance with Local Plan Policy SP38 
‘Protecting Green Space’ and paragraph 97 of the NPPF. 
 

Page 6



PLANNING BOARD - 18/03/21  
 

(3)  That, application RB2020/1346 be granted for the reasons adopted by 
Members at the meeting, subject to the relevant conditions listed in the 
submitted report, an amendment to Condition 25 to now read:- 
 
“The development shall be carried out in accordance with the Written 
Scheme of Investigation by PCAS Archaeology dated February 2021 
unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority, and the 
development shall not be brought into use until the Local Planning 
Authority has confirmed in writing that the requirements of the WSI have 
been fulfilled or alternative timescales agreed.” 
 
(4)  That, application RB2020/1655 be granted for the reasons adopted by 
Members at the meeting. 
 
(Councillor Sheppard vacated the Chair and left the meeting prior to 
application RB2020/1655 was discussed and Councillor Williams (Vice-
Chair) assumed the Chair for that application until the end of the meeting) 
 

166.  
  
UPDATES  
 

 There were no updates to report. 
 

167.  
  
DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
 

 Resolved:-  That the next meeting of the Planning Board take place on 
Thursday, 8th April, 2021 at 9.00 a.m. 
 
 

 

Page 7



ROTHERHAM METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING BOARD 

 
 

DEFERMENTS 
 
 

 Planning applications which have been reported on the Planning Board 
Agenda should not be deferred on request without justification. 

 

 Justification for deferring a decision can arise from a number of matters:- 
 

(a) Members may require further information which has not previously 
been obtained. 

 
(b) Members may require further discussions between the applicant and 

officers over a specific issue. 
 

(c) Members may require a visit to the site. 
 

(d) Members may delegate to the Assistant Director of the Service the 
detailed wording of a reason for refusal or a planning condition. 

 
(e) Members may wish to ensure that an applicant or objector is not 

denied the opportunity to exercise the “Right to Speak”. 
 

 Any requests for deferments from Members must be justified in Planning 
terms and approved by the Board.  The reason for deferring must be 
clearly set out by the Proposing Member and be recorded in the minutes. 

 

 The Assistant Director of Planning, Regeneration and Transport or the 
applicant may also request the deferment of an application, which must 
be justified in planning terms and approved by the Board. 

Page 8 Agenda Item 6



SITE VISITS 

 

 Requests for the Planning Board to visit a site come from a variety of sources:- 
the applicant, objectors, the Parish Council, local Ward Councillors, Board 
Members or sometimes from the Assistant Director of Planning, Regeneration 
and Transport. 

 

 Site visits should only be considered necessary if the impact of the proposed 
development is difficult to assess from the application plans and supporting 
information provided with the officer’s written report; if the application is 
particularly contentious or the application has an element that cannot be 
adequately expressed in writing by the applicant or objector.  Site visits can 
cause delay and additional cost to a project or development and should only be 
used where fully justified. 

 

 The reasons why a site visit is called should be specified by the Board and 
recorded. 

 

 Normally the visit will be programmed by Democratic Services to precede the 
next Board meeting (i.e. within three weeks) to minimise any delay. 

 

 The visit will normally comprise of the Members of the Planning Board and 
appropriate officers.  Ward Members are notified of visits within their Ward. 

 

 All applicants and representees are notified of the date and approximate time of 
the visit.  As far as possible Members should keep to the schedule of visits set 
out by Committee Services on the Board meeting agenda. 

 

 Normally the visit will be accessed by coach.  Members and officers are 
required to observe the site directly when making the visit, although the item will 
be occasioned by a short presentation by officers as an introduction on the 
coach before alighting.  Ward Members present will be invited on the coach for 
this introduction. 

 

 On site the Chair and Vice-Chair will be made known to the applicant and 
representees and will lead the visit allowing questions, views and discussions.  
The applicant and representees are free to make points on the nature and 
impact of the development proposal as well as factual matters in relation to the 
site, however, the purpose of the visit is not to promote a full debate of all the 
issues involved with the application.  Members must conduct the visit as a group 
in a manner which is open, impartial and equitable and should endeavour to 
ensure that they hear all points made by the applicant and representees. 

 

 At the conclusion of the visit the Chair should explain the next steps.  The 
applicant and representees should be informed that the decision on the 
application will normally be made later that day at the Board meeting subject to 
the normal procedure and that they will be welcome to attend and exercise their 
“Right to Speak” as appropriate. 

Page 9



 
 
 
REPORT TO THE PLANNING REGULATORY BOARD 
TO BE HELD ON THE 8TH APRIL 2021 
 
 
The following applications are submitted for your consideration. It is 
recommended that decisions under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 be 
recorded as indicated. 
 
INDEX PAGE 

 

 

RB2020/1783 
Outline application for the demolition of existing bungalow 
and erection of 6 No. dwellinghouses with all matters reserved 
at 13 Quarry Lane North Anston for Mr K Littlewood 

 
Page 11 

 

RB2021/0060 
Outline application for the demolition of 166 Swinston Hill 
Road and erection of up to 46 no. dwellinghouses including 
details of access at land rear of 166 Swinston Hill Road 
Dinnington for Messrs T & J Wilkinson 

 
Page 26 

 

Page 10 Agenda Item 7



REPORT TO THE PLANNING BOARD  
TO BE HELD ON THE 8TH APRIL 2021 
 
The following applications are submitted for your consideration. It is 
recommended that decisions under the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 be recorded as indicated. 
 

Application Number RB2020/1783 

Proposal and 
Location 

Outline application for the demolition of existing bungalow and 
erection of 6 No. detached dwellinghouses with all matters 
reserved at 13 Quarry Lane, North Anston   

Recommendation Grant with conditions 

 
 
This application is being presented to Planning Board due to the number of 
objections received. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 11



Site Description & Location  
 
This application relates to a large detached dormer bungalow constructed of 
artificial stone with a tiled roof located on Quarry Lane, North Anston. The site 
is located next to the car park for Greenlands Park. To the east of the site are 
a number of dwellings fronting Hall Close whilst to the north are residential 
properties on Greenland Close.  The site is roughly rectangular in shape.  
 
The area immediately adjacent to the site is predominately residential. There 
are a number of shops located across the road from the site to the south east 
on Quarry Lane.  
 
Background 
 
KP1962/1339: Outline app to erect dwelling 
-  GRANTED CONDITIONALLY 02/07/62 
 
KP1963/1339A: Bungalow 
-    GRANTED 01/07/63 
 
RB2009/0926: Outline application for demolition of existing bungalow and 
erection of 6 No. detached dwellinghouses 
-  GRANTED CONDITIONALLY 24/09/09 
 
RB2012/1046: Outline application for demolition of existing bungalow and 
erection of 6 No. detached dwellinghouses (renewal of RB2009/0926) 
-  GRANTED CONDITIONALLY 11/09/12 
 
RB2015/1258: Outline application for the demolition of existing bungalow and 
erection of 6 No. detached dwellinghouse with all matters reserved – 
GRANTED CONDITIONALLY 06/11/15 
 
 Proposal 
 
The application seeks outline planning permission with all matters reserved 
for the demolition of the existing property and the erection of 6 No. detached 
dwellinghouses. It would effectively renew the most recent outline permission 
that was granted in 2015 and has expired. The applicants have submitted an 
indicative layout plan which is identical to that from the 2015 application and 
shows 2 No. detached dwellings fronting Quarry Lane with 4 No. dwellings 
located to the rear of these properties fronting an access road taken off 
Quarry Lane. All properties are indicated to be 3 bed, including a room in the 
roofspace. 
 
The indicative layout plan shows that the existing drive would be used to form 
the main access into the site which would run along the western side of the 
site.  A separate driveway would be provided to serve one of the new 
dwellings on the Quarry Lane frontage.  
 

Page 12



The applicants have submitted a Design and Access Statement which states 
that “it is considered that the proposed development will be compatible with 
the settlements size, character and setting and the surrounding houses are a 
mix of ages and appearances. The landscaping on the site and the building 
design will enable a high standard of housing environment.” 
 
 
Development Plan Allocation and Policy 
 
The Core Strategy was adopted by the Council on the 10th September 2014 
and forms part of Rotherham’s Local Plan together with the Sites and Policies 
Document which was adopted by the Council on the 27th June 2018. 
  
The application site is located in an area identified as ‘Residential’ in the Local 
Plan. For the purposes of determining this application the following policies 
are considered to be of relevance: 
  
Local Plan Policies: 
 
CS1 ‘Delivering Rotherham’s Spatial Strategy’ 
CS28 ‘Sustainable Design’ 
 
CS33 ‘Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development’ 
SP11 ‘Development in Residential Areas’ 
SP12 ‘Development on Residential Gardens’ 
SP 41 ‘Conservation Areas’ 
SP55 ‘Design Principles’ 
SP64 ‘Access to Community Facilities’ 
 
 
Other Material Considerations 
 
National Planning Policy Framework: The revised NPPF came into effect in 
February 2019. It states that “Planning law requires that applications for 
planning permission be determined in accordance with the development plan, 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.” 
 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)  
 
South Yorkshire Residential Design Guide (SYRDG) 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance ‘Housing Guidance 3: Residential infill 
plots’. 
 
The Local Plan Policies referred to above are consistent with the NPPF and 
have been given due weight in the determination of this application. 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



Publicity 
 
The application has been advertised by way of individual letters to adjacent 
occupiers and by the display of a site notice. Six letters of objection have 
been received, including one from Anston Parish Council raising the following 
objections: 
 

 The proposal for six units represents overdevelopment of the site.  

 The development could lead to an increase in traffic problems including 
congestion and parking issues for local residents.  

 The increased traffic would be dangerous at the junction of Nursery 
Road.  

 The new dwellings could look out of place within the surrounding area 
which is characterised by properties at a lower density.  

 The new dwellings could overshadow neighbouring properties and 
harm outlook.  

 There is an historic boundary wall on the site. This could be lost as part 
of the re-development of the site.  

 Impact on adjacent North Anston Conservation Area.  

 There are mature trees on the site which may have to be removed.  
 
Anston Parish Council raised the following comments: 
 

 The proposal could lead to an increase in traffic on what is already a 
busy road.  

 The proposal represents an overdevelopment of the site.  
 
One resident, a local Ward Member, the Parish Council, and the applicant 
have all requested the right to speak at the Meeting. 
 
Consultations 
 
Streetpride (Transportation & Highways) Unit: Raise no objections subject to 
the following:  

1. Detailed plans to be submitted in accordance with the requirements of 
this permission shall include a vehicular turning space for a fire 
appliance to be provided within the site curtilage and the development 
shall not be brought into use until such turning space has been 
provided.  

2. The site layout shall be designed in accordance with guidance from the 
South Yorkshire Residential Design Guide and Manual for Streets. 

3. Car parking should be in accordance with the Council’s minimum 
parking standards. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



Appraisal 
 
Where an application is made to a local planning authority for planning 
permission…In dealing with such an application the authority shall have 
regard to - 
  
(a) the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the 
application,  
(b) any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application, and  
(c) any other material considerations. - S. 70 (2) TCPA ‘90. 
 
If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise - S.38 (6) PCPA 2004. 
 
The main considerations in the determination of the application are: 
 
• Principle of the development  
• Design/layout and the impact on the character and appearance of the 

surrounding area, including the nearby Conservation Area 
• Impact on the residential amenity of neighbouring residents 
• Impact on highway safety 

      Other issues raised by objectors 
 

The principle of the proposed development  
 
The application site is located within an area identified as ‘Residential’ within 
the Council’s adopted Local Plan Policies map. 
 
Policy SP11 ‘Development in Residential Areas’ states that: “Residential 
areas identified on the Policies Map shall be retained primarily for residential 
uses. 
All residential uses shall be considered appropriate in these areas and will be 
considered in light of all relevant planning policies.” The proposed residential 
development meets this Policy.  
 
Policy SP12 ‘Development on Residential Gardens’ states: “Proposals 
involving development on a garden or group of gardens, including infill of 
corner plots, will only be permitted where: 

a. the proposals would allow for a comprehensive scheme in the 
wider area to be achieved in the future; and 

b. the proposal does not harm the amenity of existing properties by 
overlooking, loss of privacy, loss of light or obtrusiveness; and 

c. development would not result in harm to the character of the 
area.”  

 
In respect of criteria (a) listed above, no adjoining land is available for 
potential residential development so the scheme is considered to be 
comprehensive. 

Page 15



 
In terms of criteria (b) and (c) these will be assessed in greater detail in the 
following sections of this report, having regard to the fact that this is an outline 
application with all matters reserved.  
 
Core Strategy Policy CS1 - Delivering Rotherham’s Spatial Strategy states 
that: “Most new development will take place within Rotherham’s urban area 
and at Principal Settlements for Growth. At Principal Settlements and Local 
Service Centres development will be appropriate to the size of the settlement, 
meet the identified needs of the settlement and its immediate area and help 
create a balanced sustainable community. Our strategy will make the best use 
of key transport corridors, existing infrastructure, services and facilities to 
reduce the need to travel and ensure that wherever possible communities are 
self-contained.” 
 
The NPPF notes at paragraph 68 that: “Small and medium sized sites can 
make an important contribution to meeting the housing requirement of an 
area, and are often built-out relatively quickly. To promote the development of 
a good mix of sites local planning authorities should: (amongst other things) c) 
support the development of windfall sites through their policies and decisions 
– giving great weight to the benefits of using suitable sites within existing 
settlements for homes.” 
 
This is also supported by Core Strategy Policy CS33 ‘Presumption in favour of 
Sustainable Development’ states that for existing communities to grow in a 
sustainable way new development should, wherever possible, be located 
where accessibility between new housing, existing centres, facilities and 
services can be maximised.  
 
In this instance, Table 1 of the Sites and Policies Local Plan ‘Distribution of 
housing, employment and retail growth’ identifies Dinnington, Anston and 
Laughton Common as a ‘Principal settlement for growth’ and notes that they 
will provide 9% of the Borough’s housing requirements during the Plan period. 
It adds that this  figure is not a ceiling and that windfalls will provide additional 
flexibility.   
 
It is considered that the site is within a sustainable location, given the site’s 
close proximity to local amenities including medical centre and local shops, 
and being sited close to a bus route. In addition, the scheme amounts to a 
windfall site providing valuable additional housing within the Borough. 
 
As such the site is within a highly sustainable location and would accord with 
the requirements of CS33 ‘Presumption in Favour of Sustainable 
Development’ and SP64 ‘Access to Community Facilities’. 
 
The NPPF specifies at paragraph 11 that decisions should apply a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, which means “…approving 
development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan 
without delay…”   
 

Page 16



The remainder of this report will assess whether the proposal conflicts with 
the Council’s adopted Local Plan or whether the proposal can be approved 
“without delay”. 
 
Design/Layout and impact on the character of the area, including the nearby 
Conservation Area. 
 
Local Plan Policy CS28 ‘Sustainable Design’ indicates that proposals for 
development should respect and enhance the distinctive features of 
Rotherham.  They should develop a strong sense of place with a high quality 
of public realm and well-designed buildings.  Development proposals should 
be responsive to their context and be visually attractive as a result of good 
architecture and appropriate landscaping.  Moreover, it states design should 
take all opportunities to improve the character and quality of an area and the 
way it functions. 
 
Local Plan Policy SP 41 ‘Conservation Areas’ “Development proposals within 
or likely to affect the setting of a Conservation Area will be considered against 
the following principles (amongst other things):  
a. developments are required to ensure the preservation or enhancement of 
the special character or appearance of Rotherham’s Conservation Areas and 
their settings.” 
 
Policy SP55 ‘Design Principles’ states development is required to be of high 
quality and incorporate inclusive design principles and positively contribute to 
the local character and distinctiveness of an area and the way it functions. It 
adds that “Proportionate to the scale, nature, location and sensitivity of 
development, regard will be had to the following when considering 
development proposals (amongst other things): 
a. the setting of the site, including the size, scale, mass, volume, height, 
orientation, form, and grain of surrounding development; 
b. that an assessment of local building materials, their colour and architectural 
detailing has been undertaken and submitted with the application; 
c. the use of appropriate materials and landscaping and utilisation of natural 
features, such as topography, watercourses, trees, boundary treatments, 
planting and biodiversity to create visually attractive high quality development; 
d. proposals reinforce and complement local distinctiveness and create a 
positive sense of place; public art should be incorporated into proposals 
where appropriate; 
h. the need to optimise the potential of sites to accommodate development 
which could, in appropriate instances, involve maximising densities.” 
 
As noted above, Policy SP12 ‘Development on Residential Gardens’ states: 
“Proposals involving development on a garden or group of gardens, including 
infill of corner plots, will only be permitted where (amongst other things): 

c. development would not result in harm to the character of the area.”  
 
The NPPG further goes on to advise that: “Local planning authorities are 
required to take design into consideration and should refuse planning 
permission for development of poor design.” 

Page 17



 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states at paragraph 189 
that: “In determining applications, local planning authorities should require an 
applicant to describe the significance of any heritage assets affected, 
including any contribution made by their setting. The level of detail should be 
proportionate to the assets’ importance and no more than is sufficient to 
understand the potential impact of the proposal on their significance. As a 
minimum the relevant historic environment record should have been 
consulted and the heritage assets assessed using appropriate expertise 
where necessary. Where a site on which development is proposed includes, 
or has the potential to include, heritage assets with archaeological interest, 
local planning authorities should require developers to submit an appropriate 
desk-based assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation.”  
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states at paragraph 190 
that: “Local planning authorities should identify and assess the particular 
significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal 
(including by development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) taking 
account of the available evidence and any necessary expertise. They should 
take this into account when considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage 
asset, to avoid or minimise any conflict between the heritage asset’s 
conservation and any aspect of the proposal.” 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) further states at paragraph 
193: “When considering the impact of a proposed development on the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to 
the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the 
weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts 
to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.”  
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) further states at paragraph 
196 that that: “Where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where 
appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.” 
 
The NPPF at paragraph 124 states: “Good design is fundamental to what the 
planning and development process should achieve.  Good design is a key 
aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and 
work and helps make development acceptable to communities.” 
 
Paragraph 127 states planning decisions should ensure developments will 
function well and add to the overall quality of the area; are visually attractive 
as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective 
landscaping; are sympathetic to local character and history, including the 
surrounding built environment and landscape setting and establish or maintain 
a strong sense of place. 
 
In this instance the application is in outline form, with all matters reserved, so 
details of appearance, scale and siting are not being considered at this stage. 

Page 18



Furthermore, it is difficult to assess the impact of the proposals on the setting 
of the adjacent North Anston Conservation Area. However, the applicant has 
submitted an indicative layout plan which shows the provision of two detached 
dwellings on the Quarry Lane frontage, in place of the existing dwelling that 
would be demolished, with four detached  dwellings at the rear within the 
existing garden area. This indicative form and layout would be of a similar 
density to that existing on both Hall Close and Greenland Close and would not 
be out of character with the housing on these streets, which are both short 
cul-de-sacs containing two storey properties.  As such, it is not considered 
that the development would have an adverse impact on the setting of the 
adjacent Conservation Area.  
 
The property has an attractive stone boundary wall of some age to the front 
and side boundary with Hall Close. From historic maps the stone wall appears 
to be an historic field boundary and looks attractive within the streetscene of 
Quarry Lane. It is noted that neighbouring residents raised concerns about its 
possible removal.  
 
It is considered that the removal of a small section of wall to provide access to 
one of the dwellings fronting Quarry Lane would be acceptable and it is 
recommended that an informative be appended that sets out that the stone 
boundary wall to the front of Quarry should be retained where possible, other 
than to provide this access.   
 
In view of the above, and subject to details to be submitted at the Reserved 
Matters stage, it is considered that the indicative details are acceptable. 
 
The impact of the development on the amenity of neighbouring residents. 
 
Policy SP55 ‘Design Principles’ notes that: “Proportionate to the scale, nature, 
location and sensitivity of development, regard will be had to the following 
when considering development proposals (amongst other things): 
g. the design and layout of buildings to enable sufficient sunlight and daylight 
to penetrate into and between buildings, and ensure that adjoining land or 
properties are protected from overshadowing.” 
 
As noted above, Policy SP12 ‘Development on Residential Gardens’ states: 
“Proposals involving development on a garden or group of gardens, including 
infill of corner plots, will only be permitted where (amongst other things): 

b) the proposal does not harm the amenity of existing properties by 
overlooking, loss of privacy, loss of light or obtrusiveness.” 
 

Paragraph 127(f) of the NPPF states planning decisions should ensure that 
developments create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which 
promote health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing 
and future users. 
 

Page 19



The South Yorkshire Residential Design Guide sets out inter-house spacing 
standards which state there should be 21 metres between principal elevations 
and no habitable room window should come within 10 metres of a boundary 
with another property. 
 
The indicative layout plan shows that the proposed dwellings would be sited 
so that their rear habitable room windows would be more than 10 metres from 
the boundaries with existing properties, and would not breach any 25 or 45 
degree lines with existing properties. As such, given the indicative siting of the 
dwellings, the distance to neighbouring properties, together with the 
orientation of the properties they would not appear overbearing or obtrusive 
when viewed from other surrounding properties and would not give rise to any 
overlooking, loss of privacy or outlook that would be detrimental to the 
amenity of neighbouring residents, but all these matters would be looked at in 
more detail at the Reserved Matters stage. 
 
It is therefore considered that with regard to amenity issues the indicative 
details  would raise no significant issues to either adjacent occupants or the 
future occupants of the proposed scheme and as such the proposal would 
comply with requirements of the NPPF at paragraph 127 and Local Plan 
Policy SP55 ‘Design Principles.’ 
 
Highway issues: 
 
With regard to highway issues, the Council’s Highways officers raise no 
objections to the proposed scheme subject to the provision of a vehicular 
turning space for a fire appliance within the site curtilage, to the site layout 
being designed in accordance with guidance from the South Yorkshire 
Residential Design guide and Manual for Streets, and to car parking facilities 
being provided in accordance with the Council’s Car Parking Standards. 
 
Other issues raised by objectors 
 
It is noted that a neighbouring resident has raised concerns about the loss of 
mature trees on the site. As there are a number of trees on the site it is 
considered reasonable to append a condition requiring a Tree Survey is 
submitted with any  Reserved Matters application submitted in this respect.  
 
It is noted that a neighbouring resident has raised objections on the basis of 
noise and disturbance including dust from the proposed development. It is 
considered that any development of the site would be temporary and any 
inconvenience to neighbouring residents would be too. However, it is 
considered reasonable to append an informative to any planning permission 
granted in this respect in respect of working practices during the construction 
phase.  
 
 

Page 20



Conclusion 
 
In conclusion, it is considered that the proposed outline application for 6 
dwellinghouses to be sited on this land is acceptable in principle within this 
established residential area and it is considered that a scheme for 6 dwellings 
could be achieved without being detrimental to the visual amenity or 
residential amenity of the area, or to highway safety, subject to the 
recommended conditions. 
 
Accordingly it is recommended that outline planning permission be granted 
subject to the recommended conditions. 
 
Conditions 
 
01 
a. Application for approval of reserved matters must be made within three 
years of the date of this permission. 
b. The development hereby approved must be begun not later than whichever 
is the later of the following dates: 
(i) The expiration of five years from the date of this permission; OR 
(ii) The expiration of two years from the final approval of the reserved matters 
or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last 
such matter to be approved. 
 
Reason 
In order to comply with the requirements of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 
 
02 
Before the commencement of the development, details of the layout, scale, 
appearance, access and landscaping shall be submitted to and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority and the development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason 
No details of the matters referred to having been submitted, they are reserved 
for the subsequent approval of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
03 
Details of the proposed means of disposal of foul and surface water drainage, 
including details of any off-site work, shall be submitted to and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority and the development shall not be brought into 
use until such approved details are implemented. 
 
Reason 
To ensure that the development can be properly drained in accordance with 
Local Plan Policy SP47 ‘Understanding and Managing Flood Risk and 
Drainage. 
  

Page 21



04 
The detailed plans to be submitted in accordance with the requirements of this 
permission shall include a tree survey in accordance with BS 5837:2005 
Trees in Relation to Construction Recommendations section 4.2 to 4.5.to 
include all the existing trees on and adjacent to the site that may be affected 
by any development and the following details; 
 
1. Reference number (to be recorded on the tree survey plan to a scale 

and level of accuracy appropriate to the proposal); 
2. Species (common and scientific names, where possible); 
3. Height in metres; 
4. Stem diameter in millimetres at 1.5 m above ground level (on sloping 

ground to be taken on the upslope side of the tree base) or 
immediately above the root flare for multi-stemmed trees; 

5. Branch spread in metres taken at the four cardinal points to derive an 
accurate representation of the crown (to be recorded on the tree survey 
plan); 

6. Height in metres of the crown clearance above adjacent ground level 
(to inform on ground clearance , crown stem ratio and shading); 

7. Age class (young, middle aged, mature, over-mature, veteran); 
8. Physiological condition (e.g. good, fair, poor, dead); 
9. Structural condition, e.g. collapsing, the presence of any decay and 

physical defect; 
10. Preliminary management recommendations, including further 

investigation of suspected defects that require more detailed 
assessment and potential wildlife habitat; 

11. Estimated remaining contribution in years (e.g. less than 10, 10-20, 20-
40, more than 40) 

12. R or A to C category grading (see table 1) to be recorded and indicated 
on the tree survey plan 

 
In addition the following details shall also be submitted for consideration and 
approval. 
• root protection areas (RPA) 
• a tree constraints plan (TCP) 
• construction exclusion zones 
• tree protection plan (TPP) 
• arboricultural implication assessment (AIA) 
• arboricultural method statement (AMS) 
• existing and proposed contours and levels 
 
Reason 
In order that the Local Planning Authority may consider the desirability of 
retaining trees in the interests of amenity and in accordance with Local Plan 
Policy SP34 ‘Nature Conservation’.. 
 
05 
No tree shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed nor shall any tree be pruned 
other than in accordance with the approved plans and particulars, without the 
written approval of the Local Planning Authority. Any pruning works approved 

Page 22



shall be carried out in accordance with British Standard 3998 (Tree Work). If 
any tree is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, another tree shall be 
planted in the immediate area and that tree shall be of such size and species, 
and shall be planted at such time, as may be specified in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
 
Reason 
In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and in accordance with 
Local Plan Policy SP34 ‘Nature Conservation’. 
 
06 
No work or storage on the site shall commence until all the trees/shrubs to be 
retained have been protected by the erection of a strong durable 2.30 metre 
high barrier fence in accordance with BS 5837:2012 Trees in Relation to 
Design, Demolition and Construction - Recommendations This shall be 
positioned in accordance with details to be submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority. The protective fencing shall be properly maintained 
and shall not be removed without the written approval of the Local Planning 
Authority until the development is completed. There shall be no alterations in 
ground levels, fires, use of plant, storage, mixing or stockpiling of materials 
within the fenced areas.  
 
Reason 
To ensure the trees/shrubs are protected during the construction of the 
development in the interests of amenity and in accordance with Local Plan 
Policy SP34 ‘Nature Conservation’. 
 
07 
Detailed plans to be submitted in accordance with the requirements of this 
permission shall include a vehicular turning space for a fire appliance to be 
provided within the site curtilage and the development shall not be brought 
into use until such turning space has been provided.  
 
Reason 
To enable a vehicle to enter and leave the highway in a forward gear in the 
interests of road safety.   
 
08 
Before the development is brought into use, that part of the site to be used by 
vehicles shall be constructed with either; 
 a/ a permeable surface and associated water retention/collection 
drainage, or;  
 b/ an impermeable surface with water collected and taken to a 
separately  constructed water retention/discharge system within the site. 
The area shall thereafter be maintained in a working condition. 
 

Page 23



Reason  
To ensure that surface water can adequately be drained and that mud and 
other extraneous material is not deposited on the public highway and that 
each dwelling can be reached conveniently from the footway in the interests 
of the adequate drainage of the site, road safety and residential amenity. 
 
 
09 
No development shall take place until details of the materials to be used in the 
construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby permitted 
have been submitted or samples of the materials have been left on site, and 
the details/samples have been approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details/samples. 
 
Reason 
To ensure that appropriate materials are used in the construction of the 
development in the interests of visual amenity and in accordance with Core 
Strategy Policy CS28 Sustainable Design. 
 
10 
Prior to the occupation of each dwelling, details of one vehicle charging point 
per dwelling shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning 
authority.  The dwelling shall not be occupied until the charging point has 
been provided and shall thereafter be retained.  
 
Reason 
In the interests of sustainable development and air quality. 
 
 
Informatives 
 
01 
You should note that the Council’s Neighbourhood Enforcement have a legal 
duty to investigate any complaints about noise or dust which may arise during 
the construction phase. If a statutory nuisance is found to exist, they must 
serve an Abatement Notice under the Environmental Protection Act 1990. 
Failure to comply with the requirements of an Abatement Notice may result in 
a fine of up to £20,000 upon conviction in the Magistrates' Court.  It is 
therefore recommended that you give serious consideration to reducing 
general disturbance by restricting the hours that operations and deliveries 
take place, minimising dust and preventing mud, dust and other materials 
being deposited on the highway.   
 
02 
INF 25 Protected species  
Wildlife Legislation 
Nature conservation protection under UK and EU legislation is irrespective of 
the planning system and the applicant should therefore ensure that any 
activity undertaken, regardless of the need for any planning consent, complies 

Page 24



with the appropriate wildlife legislation. If any protected species are found on 
the site then work should halt immediately and an appropriately qualified 
ecologist should be consulted.  For definitive information primary legislative 
sources should be consulted. 
 
03 
Gigabit-capable full fibre broadband - The four South Yorkshire Authorities 
have committed to ensuring that relevant developments are provided with 
Gigabit-capable full fibre broadband. Please refer to the attached informative 
in this respect. 
 
04 
On site car parking facilities should be provided for each dwelling in 
accordance with the Council’s Car parking Standards and the site layout 
should be designed in accordance with guidance from the South Yorkshire 
Residential Design Guide and Manual for Streets. 
 
05 
Landscaping details to be submitted under reserved matters shall have regard 
to the Rotherham Landscape Guide - 
https://www.rotherham.gov.uk/downloads/file/547/landscape-design-guide 

 
06 
The stone boundary wall to the front of the site adjacent to Quarry Lane and 
to the side of the site adjacent to No. 11 Quarry Lane, shall be retained where 
practicable and incorporated into the development, other than to provide 
access to one of the dwellings fronting Quarry Lane.  
 
POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT 
 
Whilst the applicant did not enter into any pre application discussions with the 
Local Planning Authority, the proposals were in accordance with the principles 
of the National Planning Policy Framework and did not require any alterations 
or modification. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.rotherham.gov.uk%2Fdownloads%2Ffile%2F547%2Flandscape-design-guide&data=04%7C01%7CChris.Wilkins%40rotherham.gov.uk%7C3f5de3eb39c141aad91b08d8ea2a5872%7C46fbe6fd78ae47699c1dbcea97378af6%7C0%7C0%7C637516814924704640%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=YRcJ8k6x9L4iwsjSDQivo1AhfDi8U%2FKTRc6%2FUXJ3XzQ%3D&reserved=0


Application Number RB2021/0060 

Proposal and 
Location 

Outline application for the demolition of 166 Swinston Hill Road 
and erection of up to 46 no. dwellinghouses including details of 
access at land East of Wentworth Way, Dinnington 

Recommendation A. That the Council enter into a legal agreement with the 
developer under Section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 for the purposes of securing the 
following:  

 

 Financial contribution of £500 per dwelling towards 
sustainable travel measures to support the 
development 

 Affordable Housing in line with policy CS7 ‘Housing 
Mix and Affordability’ (25% of final units to be 
affordable)  

 Financial contribution of £2,369 towards 
improvement to bus stop 35841 controlled by South 
Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive to 
support the development.    

 Financial contribution of £750 towards the 
installation of a kissing gate on adjacent footpath 
(Dinnington Footpath No. 13) 

 Financial contribution of £390.69 per dwelling in 
respect of the installation of equipped play on the 
adjacent green space (Swinston Hill Recreation 
Ground) and £2,450 towards ongoing maintenance 
costs. 

 Establishment of a Management Company to 
manage and maintain the areas of Greenspace on 
site.                                                                
 

B. Consequent upon the satisfactory signing of such an 
agreement the Council resolves to grant permission for the 
proposed development subject to the conditions set out in 
the report. 

 
 

This application is being presented to Planning Board due to the number of 
objections received. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



Site Description & Location 
 

 
 
The application site is approximately 1.6 hectares in area and lies to the south 
of Swinston Hill Road, it comprises of No. 166 Swinston Hill Road which is 
two-storey detached dwellinghouse that has fallen into a state of disrepair and 
is currently vacant and boarded up.  The property has a long rear garden that 
then merges into a large field to the rear of the property and runs along the 
rear of properties 150  to 164 (evens only). 
 
To the west of the site is a large area of land which was approved for 157 
dwellings off Wentworth Way under RB2019/0837) in July 2020.  To the east 
is a field comprising of a number of mature trees, both in separate ownership 
to the application site.  Beyond the rear (southern) boundary of the application 
site is an open field within the Green Belt and Dinnington Footpath No 13 runs 
along the southern boundary of the site. 
 
The site slopes down from north to south. 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



Background 
 
There has been one previous planning application submitted relating to this 
site,  
 
RB2019/1943 – Outline application for the demolition of 166 Swinston Hill 
Road and erection of up to 35 no. dwellinghouses including details of access 
– GRANTED CONDITIONALLY 01/05/2020 
 
There was also an application for the site to the west within the same housing 
allocation: 
 
RB2019/0837 – Erection of 157 no. dwellinghouses, new access, car parking, 
landscaping and public open space, including 3m high fence – GRANTED 
CONDITIONALLY 01/07/2020 
 
EIA screening opinion 
 
The proposed development falls within the description contained at Paragraph 
10 (b) of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Environment Impact 
Assessment) (England and Wales) Regulations 2017. Whilst the development 
in isolation does not meets the criteria set out in column 2 of the table in 
Schedule 2 i.e. the number of dwellings proposed does not exceed 150, when 
combined with the development on the adjacent site for 157 dwellings then it 
would exceed this limit. As such, a screening opinion has been prepared. 
However, the Borough Council as the relevant Local Planning Authority has 
taken into account the criteria set out in Schedule 3 to the Regulations and it 
is considered that the development would not be likely to have a significant 
effect on the environment by virtue of factors such as its nature, size and 
location.  
 
Accordingly, it is the Local Planning Authority’s opinion, that the proposed 
development is not 'EIA development' within the meaning of the 2017 
Regulations. 
 
CIL  
 
The development is Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) liable. CIL is 
generally payable on the commencement of development though there are 
certain exemptions, such as for self-build developments. The payment of CIL 
is not material to the determination of the planning application. Accordingly, 
this information is presented simply for information. 
 
Proposal 
 
The application is seeking outline permission for up to 46 dwellinghouses with 
only details of access being considered.  The proposal will involve the 
demolition of no. 166 Swinston Hill Road to facilitate the proposed access. 
 

Page 28



The applicant has confirmed that access in this instance will only cover the 
proposed new junction to Swinston Hill Road (including the first 10 metres of 
the access road) and the access points into the adjacent land to the west and 
east.  The internal road layout will be assessed at reserved matters stage, 
along with layout, scale, appearance and landscaping of the site. 
 
An indicative layout has been provided for information purposes only which 
shows a suggested layout of the site, with a pedestrian access linking to the 
western site and a vehicular access link to the potential development on the 
eastern site.  A further pedestrian link is shown to access the Dinnington 
Footpath No 13 that runs along the southern boundary of the site, and a 
proposed link is shown to potentially open up the rear gardens of properties to 
the west of the application site for residential development in the future. 
 
The applicant has also indicated that proposed new dwellings on the site can 
range from single-storey to two and half storey dwellings, with heights ranging 
from 6 to 9 metres. 
 
The following documents have been submitted in support of the application: 
 
Design and Access Statement 
 
The statement provides information on the site, the local area, the proposal 
and planning policy.  In addition it provides details on highways, ecology, 
landscape, flood risk and drainage, heritage and archaeology, green 
infrastructure and education. 
 
Masterplan 
 
The purpose of this Masterplan document is to show by illustration and text 
how the development proposals have been formulated, what has influenced 
the design and layout of the site, and how the various development 
constraints have been dealt with. The Masterplan accompanies an Outline 
Planning Application and is to be viewed as part of those submissions. It will 
provide a document that will guide and influence the reserved matters 
submissions at a later stage. 
 
Ecological Impact Assessment 
 
The survey was carried out in March 2019 and its objective was to provide 
information on any known or potential protected or rare species that may be 
using the site, and to outline recommendations on how to proceed with the 
works in a legal and ecologically sensitive manner. 
 
The report provides general recommendations / mitigation to ensure minimum 
effect on habitats and species. 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



Bat Survey 
 
The survey was carried out in June 2019 and found that the building to be 
demolished had moderate potential for supporting roosting bats.  Two bat 
activity surveys were conducted and a low amount of bat activity was 
identified during each survey period, not bats were recorded emerging from or 
re-entering the buildings. 
 
No nesting birds were observed.  
 
Reptile Survey 
 
The reptile survey was undertaken in May 2019 and found no reptiles were 
found during the seven site visits, and as such concluded that the site 
supports no reptiles and is considered that the proposed development will not 
have a negative impact on reptiles. 
 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 
 
The report provides an assessment of the effects of the proposed 
development on the landscape of the site and its context.   
 
The report states development of the land in the wider allocated site, i.e. to 
the immediate west and east of the site, has the potential to result in 
cumulative moderate and minor adverse and negligible effects with the 
development proposed at the application site. These cumulative effects are 
likely to provide most change for visual receptors situated on Dinnington’s 
urban edge to the south west and users of the footpaths within the arable 
landscape to the south of the site. 
 
Tree Survey 
 
The survey confirms that the trees were surveyed in August 2019; the survey 
took account of 25 features being a combination of individual trees, hedges 
and groups. 
 
The tree cover is confined to the garden associated with no. 166 Swinston Hill 
Road and trees growing within the neighbouring property were close to the 
north western boundary of the site. 
 
Trees within the garden range from category U, those of lowest value that are 
recommended for removal irrespective of development, through to Category 
C, being those of moderate value.  Third party trees within the rear garden of 
no. 164 Swinston Hill Road were Category B. 
 
The survey notes that those trees to be retained will be suitably protected 
during the construction phase and further arboricultural input is necessary at 
the detailed design stage. 
 
 

Page 30



Flood Risk and Drainage Strategy 
 
The report confirms that the site falls within Flood Zone 1, and the site and 
surrounding area would be at low flood risk following development.  
Furthermore, the assessment indicates how the site may be suitably and 
safely drained to manage runoff from the new impermeable areas, and that by 
using Sustainable Drainage Systems the development can positively 
contribute to local flood risk management and optimise bio-diversity and 
amenity benefits. 
 
Phase 1 Land Contamination Report 
 
The report states that the risk from ground contamination is considered to be 
very low and locally moderate and the risk from ground gas is considered to 
be very low. 
 
It states that prior to development a ground investigation will be required, but 
on the whole the site is suitable for the proposed development, assuming 
compliance with all the recommendations contained within the report. 
 
Transport Statement 
 
The report assesses the transport impacts associated with the proposed 
development.    
 
It notes that vehicular access to the site is proposed via provision of a simple 
priority T-junction onto Swinston Hill Road and it states that the site is well 
located in terms of access to local amenities and facilities by foot or by cycle, 
and a new footpath link is proposed to the south of the site. 
 
An assessment of the impact of development generated traffic on the local 
highway network has been undertaken and it is considered that there would 
not be a significant impact from the development on the transport network (in 
terms of capacity and congestion) or on highway safety. 
 
Travel Plan 
 
The Travel Plan will form the framework within which the final Travel Plan for 
the site will be developed, outlining a range of measures considered 
appropriate to the type and scale of development proposed. 
 
The Travel Plan states the site has reasonable pedestrian and cycle 
accessibility with a range of local amenities / facilities available within 
reasonable walking and cycling distance of the development. Rotherham and 
Worksop are accessible by using existing bus services, with bus stops being 
located within an easy walk distance of the site. Given the proximity of the site 
to the local facilities, travel on foot and cycling is a possibility for a proportion 
of local trips during both peak and off-peak periods, with buses providing for 
journeys to Rotherham and Worksop.  Longer journeys to destinations such 
as Sheffield can be accommodated by rail. 

Page 31



 
Heritage Statement and Heritage Impact Statement 
 
The Heritage Statement presents an assessment of the effects upon the 
cultural heritage and heritage assets as a result of the proposed development.  
The statement concludes there are no high importance heritage assets within 
the development area or in its vicinity. 
 
The impact statement notes that although there are no known heritage assets 
within the Subject Area, SMR entry 3021 – A Romano-British enclosure in 
Swinston Hill Wood – is significant to this assessment.  The upstanding 
settlement remains have survived in the woodland through lack of agricultural 
activity, but were no doubt part of a larger system of settlement and 
agriculture in the vicinity of, and possibly within, the Subject Area, now 
damaged or masked by subsequent ploughing.  However aerial imagery 
supports the view that some of this evidence may well survive below ground, 
to the north-west of the woodland in the close vicinity of the Subject Area. 
 
Given the above, to mitigate against the possible loss of archaeological 
evidence within the Subject Area, it is recommended that a further stage of 
evaluation is carried out to identify or eliminate archaeological potential below 
ground. 
 
Development Plan Allocation and Policy 
 
The Core Strategy was adopted by the Council on the 10th September 2014 
and forms part of Rotherham’s Local Plan together with the Sites and Policies 
Document which was adopted by the Council on the 27th June 2018. 
 
The application site is allocated for Residential purposes in the Local Plan.  
For the purposes of determining this application the following policies are 
considered to be of relevance: 
 
Local Plan policy(s): 
 
CS1 ‘Delivering Rotherham’s Spatial Strategy’ 
CS3 ‘Location of New Development’ 
CS7 ‘Housing Mix and Affordability’ 
CS14 ‘Accessible Places and Managing Demand for Travel’ 
CS20 ‘Biodiversity and Geodiversity’ 
CS21 ‘Landscapes’ 
CS22 ‘Green Space’ 
CS25 ‘Dealing with Flood Risk’ 
CS26 ‘Minerals’ 
CS27 ‘Community Health and Safety’ 
CS28 ‘Sustainable Design’ 
CS33 ‘Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development’ 
SP1 ‘Sites Allocated for Development’ 
SP11 ‘Development in Residential Areas’ 
SP26 ‘Sustainable Transport for Development’ 

Page 32



SP32 ‘Green Infrastructure and Landscape’ 
SP33 ‘Conserving the Natural Environment’ 
SP35 ‘Protected and Priority Species’ 
SP36 ‘Soil Resources’ 
SP37 ‘New and Improvements to Existing Green Space’ 
SP47 ‘Understanding and Managing Flood Risk and Drainage’ 
SP52 ‘Pollution Control’ 
SP55 ‘Design Principles’ 
SP56 ‘Car Parking Layout’ 
WCS7 ‘Managing Waste in All Developments’ 
 
Other Material Considerations 
 
The revised NPPF came into effect in February 2019. It states that “Planning 
law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in 
accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise.” 
 
The Local Plan policies referred to above are consistent with the NPPF and 
have been given due weight in the determination of this application.  
 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
 
National Design Guide 
 
South Yorkshire Residential Design Guide  
 
Council’s Car Parking Standards 
 
RMBC Adopted Supplementary Planning Documents: 
 

 SPD2 – Air Quality & Emissions 

 SPD5 – Healthy and Equal Communities 
 
Dinnington Neighbourhood Plan - The Council has published a decision 
accepting the Examiner’s recommended modifications to the Draft Dinnington 
Neighbourhood Plan and that it should proceed to a referendum to decide 
whether it should be ‘made’ (adopted) by the Council as part of the Local 
Plan. The referendum will take place on 6th May 2021. As such, the 
Neighbourhood Plan can be given significant weight in decision-making, so far 
as the Plan is material to the application [Planning Practice Guidance, 
Paragraph: 107 Reference ID: 41-107-20200407].  
 
Publicity 
 
The application has been advertised by way of press and site notice along 
with individual neighbour notification letters to adjacent properties.  12 letters 
of representation from individual addresses have been received, including 2 
from local Ward Members and one from Dinnington Town Council which 
includes 11 individual names and signatures. 

Page 33



 
The issues raised by the local residents are summarised below: 
 

 Access from the development onto Swinston Hill Road will be 
extremely dangerous, this access point is only a few hundred metres 
away from where the road reduces from 60mph to 30mph, cars do not 
slow to 30mph at this point and there is a real danger that cars pulling 
out will be hit by oncoming traffic. 

 The ongoing disruption to residents due to noise, it is impossible to 
take this application in isolation without the committee considering the 
following - planning was already granted for six dwellings at 140 
Swinston Hill Road and two years later for two dwellings at 146 
Swinston Hill Road, this development is still ongoing as we move into 
our third summer, we are not able to enjoy our gardens and cannot 
open our windows due to noise, dust; fire smoke which at this time of 
Covid19 are both impacting our mental health and dangerous to our 
general health as we cannot ventilate our houses. We can feel trapped 
in our own homes. To the rear of us planning consent has been 
granted for circa 159 dwellings by Taylor Wimpy and now this planning 
permission is being sort for a further 46 dwellings to the rear of us. The 
noise and disruption will be relentless, on top of the three years we 
have already endured, further developments could last many more 
months and even years into the future. 

 It is still astounding that any of these applications have been granted 
due to the fact that this was greenbelt land and the impact on the 
wildlife and environment. 

 In addition, the local infrastructure will suffer, the Doctors are already 
full of patients and the schools are already overflowing. 

 The increase in the number of dwellings and the increase in traffic will 
further impact on our ability to reverse onto our drive opposite the 
entrance. 

 There are no plans to reduce the speed of traffic on Swinston Hill Road 
where drivers exceed the 30mph speed limit. 

 Why does the plans still show that the road has a bend towards our 
house at no. 164.  It was agreed at the planning committee in February 
2020 that there was no reason why this road had to bend, and that it 
could therefore go up the middle so as not to be so close to our 
property. 

 We do not agree with the letter from Highways regarding the impact tha
t it will have on the traffic for the increased number of houses.  
Swinston Hill Road is already a very busy road and further traffic would 
make this road very dangerous. 

 There is a problem of increase pollution from vehicle emissions and 
noise.   

 The junction will create an accident blackspot. 

 It was not clarified at the previous planning committee meeting about 
the possible link up between this road and the proposed houses off 
Wentworth Way. 

Page 34



 The proposed access road at the back of our house, is this is to be 
used to access even more houses on neighbouring gardens. 

 We would like the Highways Department to confirm what width a road 
should legally be for two-way traffic, taking into account lorries as well 
as other vehicles.  We have measured Swinston Hill Road and it 
measures 5.5 metres at the junction and few hundred metres down the 
road it is significantly narrower and measures 4.9 metres. 

 There are drainage concerns, land around the area is hard bedrock 
and the proposal might lead to properties being flooded. 

 From the previous plans we know that there are plans to build a 
pumping station, presumably this is for sewage only since the previous 
plans show the proposed properties to have a soakaway in their 
garden for top water which in itself causes risk to flooding and water 
logging the ground.  Pumping additional sewage into the existing 
overloaded sewers will put even more strain on them particularly as the 
pumping station behind 140 and 144 Swinston Hill Road has already 
failed. 

 What guarantees can be given that the proposed estate will not be 
linked up with the proposed Taylor Wimpey development off Wentworth 
Way.  Without linking up, the proposed junction will create an accident 
blackspot, especially considering the speed of traffic on Swinston Hill 
Road.  Linking up will increase traffic considerably. 

 The development will impact on the wildlife that occupy the site.  

 The traffic survey undertaken in the original planning application for 35 
houses was undertaken at the junction of Lakeland Drive almost half a 
mile away. 

 It appears safety conclusions were made based on data obtained for 
the larger residential allocation.  Whilst this may have relevance to the 
number of trips per household, it does not address the specific safety 
issues of the proposed development entrance location.  We request an 
independent traffic survey is undertaken to fully understand the safety 
risks of the location of the new access and the impact of proposed 
access.  

 We are concerned about structural movement of neighbouring houses 
from the construction of the access road. 

 The current owners of 166 Swinston Hill Road have so neglected their 
property (including the old stables which back directly onto our garden) 
that we have been unable to re-fence our property, cope with debris 
from the abandoned building and have had to stop using the bottom 
portion of our garden because of trespassers and drug use. If a 
development was to begin we would feel very vulnerable and exposed 
and would be very anxious for the safety of our property. 

 I request that the link on the southern boundary to Public Footpath No. 
13 be recorded as a public footpath and adopted by the Highway 
Authority. It is only a short link from the proposed development 
boundary. A matter of metres. 

 
 

Page 35



Local Ward Councillors John Vjestica and Jeanette Mallinder have raised 
concerns regarding the access to the development site in respect of the 
junction with Swinston Hill Road in relation to the volume and safety of 
vehicles.  In particular there are concerns regarding the additional traffic 
generated from this development and the offset road junction opposite which 
could lead to potential traffic conflict and safety issues. 
 
The issues raised by the Town Council are summarised below: 
 

 Road safety – the size and location of the junction gives great cause 
for concern. As neighbours have stated, the junction is planned to be 
not far from the point at which the speed limit changes from 60mph 
down to 30mph. As a consequence, many vehicles still travel well in 
excess of the speed limit at this point and therefore this raises the 
prospect of this junction becoming a potential accident blackspot. In 
addition, it’s location being slightly staggered across from the junction 
to Rowernfields, increases the concern and likelihood this could be the 
case. 

 Emergency/large vehicle access – the access to this small estate is 
planned to be a single lane access, giving rise to concern that 
emergency vehicles in particular may find their entrance to this area 
inhibited should there be another vehicle at this junction when they 
wish to access it, potentially causing crucial delays. 
 

No Right to Speak requests have been received. 
 
Consultations 
 
RMBC – Transportation Infrastructure Service: No objections subject to 
conditions. 
 
RMBC – Affordable Housing Officer: The proposal will satisfy the Council’s 
Affordable Housing Policy requirement. 
 
RMBC – Tree Service: No objections subject to conditions. 
 
RMBC – Landscapes: No objections subject to conditions. 
 
RMBC – Drainage: No objections subject to conditions. 
 
RMBC – Environmental Health: No objections. 
 
RMBC – Land Contamination: No objections subject to conditions. 
 
RMBC – Education: No contribution would be required. 
 
RMBC – Air Quality: No objections subject to conditions regarding provision of 
electric vehicle charging points. 
 

Page 36



RMBC – Green Spaces: No objections, subject to contribution to adjacent 
green space to provide equipped play facilities and maintenance. 
 
RMBC – Ecology: No objections subject to conditions. 
 
RMBC – Public Right of Way: The proposal does not appear to directly affect 
any definitive rights of way, but a single kissing gate should be provided on 
the Adopted PROW to the south of the site (Dinnington Footpath No. 13). 
 
South Yorkshire Passenger Transport Service: Have recommended a 
contribution to the bus service 20 by way of an upgrade to bus stop 35841 to 
a new shelter, tactile paving, raised kerb and bus stop clearway. 
 
The Environment Agency: No objections. 
 
Severn Trent Water: No objections. 
 
Sheffield Area Geology Trust: No objections. 
 
South Yorkshire Archaeology Service: No objections subject to conditions. 
 
NHS: Rotherham CCG raise no objections in principle to the proposed 
development, however acknowledge that there are capacity issues for primary 
care services within the wider Dinnington area. 
  
SY Police Architectural Liaison Officer: No objections but have recommended 
how the site can achieve Secured by Design standards. 
 
Yorkshire Wildlife Trust: Have raised some concerns with the scheme. 
 
Appraisal 
 
Where an application is made to a local planning authority for planning 
permission…..In dealing with such an application the authority shall have 
regard to - 
  
(a) the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the 
application,  
(b) any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application, and  
(c) any other material considerations. - S. 70 (2) TCPA ‘90. 
 
If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise - S.38 (6) PCPA 2004. 
 
The main considerations in the determination of the application are: 

Page 37



Principle 

 Design, Scale and Appearance 

 Impact on Highways 

 Public Rights of Way 

 Landscapes and Trees 

 Ecology / Biodiversity 

 Drainage and Flood Risk 

 General Amenity 

 Air Quality 

 Affordable Housing  

 Education 

 Minerals 

 Land contamination 

 Archaeology 

 Other considerations 
 
Principle 
 
The site is identified in the Sites and Policies Document within Policy SP1 
‘Sites Allocated for Development’ as Housing Site H81 (total area 7.45ha) and 
it indicates that the total site area has a capacity of approximately 243 
dwellings. 
 
CS1 ‘Delivering Rotherham’s Spatial Strategy’ states most new development 
will take place within Rotherham’s urban area and at Principal Settlements for 
Growth.  Dinnington is identified as a ‘Principal Settlement for Growth’, which 
along with Anston and Laughton Common is proposed to provide 1,300 
dwellings as part of the Local Plan. 
 
CS3 ‘Location of New Development’ states: “In allocating a site for 
development the Council will have regard to relevant sustainability criteria, 
including its (amongst other things): proximity as prospective housing land to 
services, facilities and employment opportunities, access to public transport 
routes and the frequency of services, quality of design and its respect for 
heritage assets and the open countryside.” 
 
Policy SP11 ‘Development in Residential Areas’ states, in part that: “All 
residential uses shall be considered appropriate in these areas and will be 
considered in light of all relevant planning policies.” 
 
The site is allocated Residential and as such the principle of residential 
development is acceptable.  This proposal only accounts for part of the whole 
residential allocation of H81 due to the allocation being in several different 
ownerships.  157 dwellings have been recently approved on the last to the 
west within the allocation and together with the proposed development would 
provide approximately 203 dwellings, which is broadly in keeping with the 
capacity of the overall site of 243 dwellings as the land to the east will remain 
available for development. 
 

Page 38



The NPPF specifies at paragraph 11 that decisions should apply a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, which means “…approving 
development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan 
without delay…”  This is further supported by policy CS33 ‘Presumption in 
Favour of Sustainable Development’. 
 
Paragraph 12 of the NPPF states: “The presumption in favour of sustainable 
development does not change the statutory status of the development plan as 
the starting point for decision making.  Where a planning application conflicts 
with an up-to-date development plan…permission should not usually be 
granted.  Local planning authorities may take decisions that depart from an 
up-to-date development plan, but only if material considerations in a particular 
case indicate that the plan should not be followed.” 
 
In terms of access to Community Facilities, policy SP64 ‘Access to 
Community Facilities’ states: “Residential development should have good 
access to a range of shops and services. On larger  scale residential 
developments of 10 or more dwellings the majority of homes (minimum of 
80%) should be within 800 metres reasonable walking distance (measured 
from the centre of the site, taking into account barriers such as main roads, 
rivers and railway lines) via safe pedestrian access of a local convenience 
shop and a reasonable range of other services or community facilities. This 
may require the provision of local services or facilities by developers where 
these requirements would not otherwise be met or where new development 
would place an unacceptable burden upon existing facilities, unless it can be 
demonstrated that such provision would not be viable or would threaten the 
viability of the overall scheme.” 
 
The site would be sited within an appropriate distance to primary schools on 
Lidgett Lane and Park Avenue, the community hall on Lidgett Lane / Swinston 
Hill Road junction, and various shops on Lakeland Drive and Lordens Hill.  As 
such the site is located within close proximity to a range of shops and services 
and would comply with the requirements of policy SP64. 
 
Housing Mix 
 
Adopted Rotherham Core Strategy Policy CS7 ‘Housing Mix and Affordability’ 
states: “Proposals for new housing will be expected to deliver a mix of 
dwelling sizes, type and tenure taking into account an up to date Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment for the entire housing market area and the 
needs of the market, in order to meet the present and future needs of all 
members of the community.” 
 
Further to the above, there is a policy (H1) within the draft Dinnington 
Neighbourhood Plan which refers to Housing Mix on sites within the NP area.  
However, during its examination, the independent examiner amended the 
wording of this policy as the original wording was too prescriptive and 
restrictive.  Accordingly, the revised wording which will be in the NP should it 
be voted in during 2021 states at H1: “In order to help meet the present and 
future housing needs, including the needs of local residents, new housing 

Page 39



development proposals, should provide a mix of housing sizes, type and 
tenure based on the most up to date SHMA available, supplemented by a 
more up to date assessment of housing need, including local housing need, if 
appropriate…” 
 
Whilst the housing mix is not being considered fully at this stage and will be 
given more weight during the consideration of the reserved matters 
application, it is of note that the information submitted along with the indicative 
site layout plan indicates that the development will be able to provide a mix of 
dwelling types and of varying bedroom sizes.  Therefore, the principle of this 
development in respect of providing an appropriate housing mix is considered 
acceptable at this stage and will be considered in greater detail on submission 
of the detailed plans with the reserved matters application. 
 
It is also of note that the detailed plans submitted with the reserved matters 
application will confirm when everything is considered if the number of units 
proposed within the outline permission is achievable on site. 
 
Healthy and Equal Communities 
 
The adopted SPD ‘Healthy and Equal Communities’ raises awareness of the 
links between equality and health and wellbeing and includes a checklist to 
assist development proposals in considering these issues at the planning 
stage. 
 
The Checklist has been submitted and assessed by the Council’s Public 
Health department and deemed to be acceptable in this instance. 
 
The remainder of the report will focus on whether there are any other material 
planning considerations that would outweigh the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. 
 
Design, Scale and Appearance 
 
The NPPG notes that: “Development proposals should reflect the requirement 
for good design set out in national and local policy.  Local planning authorities 
will assess the design quality of planning proposals against their Local Plan 
policies, national policies and other material considerations.”   
 
The NPPG further goes on to advise that: “Local planning authorities are 
required to take design into consideration and should refuse permission for 
development of poor design.” 
 
SP55 ‘Design Principles’ states: “All forms of development are required to be 
of high quality, incorporate inclusive design principles, create decent living 
and working environments, and positively contribute to the local character and 
distinctiveness of an area and the way it functions. This policy applies to all 
development proposals including alterations and extensions to existing 
buildings”. 
 

Page 40



This approach is echoed in National Planning Policy in the NPPF.   
 
The NPPF at paragraph 124 states: “Good design is a key aspect of 
sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and 
helps make development acceptable to communities.” Paragraph 130 adds: 
“Permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails to 
take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an 
area and the way it functions, taking into account any local design standards 
or style guides in plans or supplementary planning documents.” 
 
In addition, CS21 ‘Landscapes’ states new development will be required to 
safeguard and enhance the quality, character, distinctiveness and amenity 
value of the borough’s landscapes.  Furthermore, CS28 ‘Sustainable Design’ 
indicates that proposals for development should respect and enhance the 
distinctive features of Rotherham and design should take all opportunities to 
improve the character and quality of an area and the way it functions. 
 
The South Yorkshire Residential Design Guide aims to provide a robust urban 
and highway design guidance. It promotes high quality design and 
development which is sensitive to the context in which it is located. 
 
As previously stated, the application is in outline form, with only access (in 
part) being considered and all other matters such as layout, scale, 
appearance and landscaping (including boundary treatment) being reserved 
for future consideration under subsequent reserved matters applications.  
Nevertheless an indicative site layout plan has been provided to show how 
the site may be laid out, and to show whether or not the site could 
accommodate up to 46 dwellings, with acceptable private/public amenity 
spaces, appropriate spacing standards and the required number of parking 
spaces per dwelling, and in this instance how the site would link up with the 
neighbouring development to the west and future development to the east. 
 
The indicative layout shows a new access to Swinston Hill Road which would 
weave down between the gardens of nos. 164 and 168 Swinston Hill Road, 
with a two  properties on the access road with potential to open an access into 
the rear gardens of properties to the west, before the site opens up with 
dwellings sited around an internal road.  An access is then shown into the 
land to the east for vehicles, located next to a small open space area, and a 
pedestrian access into the adjacent site to the west and to Dinnington 
Footpath No 13 that runs along the southern boundary of the site. 
 
The layout shows a mixture of detached, semi-detached and town houses and 
the documents submitted in support of the application indicate that the site 
could include bungalows, two storey and two and half storey properties. 
 
It is considered that whilst further consideration will need to be had at the 
reserved matters stage in respect of inter-house spacing standards, size, 
scale, form, design and siting of dwellings, as well as amenity considerations, 
it is noted that from the information submitted with this application that the site 
could accommodate up to 46 dwellings, but the final number will be 

Page 41



dependent on consideration of the above issues during the reserved matters 
stage and the submission of a detailed layout plan. 
 
Taking into account all of the above, any future application for reserved 
matters should have regard to the requirements of the aforementioned 
policies and guidance.  However, on the indicative information submitted it is 
considered that the layout of the site could comply with the requirements of 
the NPPF, NPPG and Local Plan policies CS28 ‘Sustainable Design’ and 
SP55 ‘Design Principles’. 
 
Impact on Highways 
 
Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states: “Development should only be prevented 
or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would 
be severe.” 
 
CS14 ‘Accessible Places and Managing Demand for Travel’ states the 
Council will work on making places more accessible and that accessibility will 
be promoted through the proximity of people to employment, leisure, retail, 
health and public services by, amongst other things, locating new 
development in highly accessible locations such as town and district centres 
or on key bus corridors which are well served by a variety of modes of travel. 
 
SP26 ‘Sustainable Transport for Development’ states development proposals 
will be supported where it can be demonstrated that the proposals make 
adequate arrangements for sustainable transport infrastructure; local traffic 
circulation, existing parking and servicing arrangements are not adversely 
affected; the highway network is, or can be made, suitable to cope with traffic 
generated, during construction and after occupation; and the scheme takes 
into account good practice guidance. 
 
Policies CS14 and SP26 are supported by paragraphs 108 and 110 of the 
NPPF. 
 
SP56 ‘Car Parking Layout’ states that layouts should be designed to reduce 
the visual impact of parking on the street-scene; discourage the obstruction of 
footways and ensure in-curtilage parking does not result in streets dominated 
by parking platforms to the front of properties. 
 
It is noted that a number of highway concerns have been raised by the 
objectors, specifically around issues of the junction and its impact on highway 
safety due to its location close to the junction with Rowenfields; general 
highway safety of Swinston Hill Road; and potential for more accidents and 
increase in traffic in the area. 
 
The applicant has confirmed that in respect of the access considerations 
under the current outline application, this will be limited to the new junction to 
Swinston Hill Road and the first 10 metres of the carriageway into the site; the 
proposed future vehicle access into the site to the east which forms part of the 

Page 42



wider housing allocation; and proposed footpath link to the site to the west, 
which has an application for 157 homes (Ref: RB2019/0837).  The internal 
layout shown on the illustrative layout plan is not being assessed as part of 
this application. 
 
In respect of the width of the access road, its design will be undertaken at 
detailed stage, where measures to ensure that access / egress is achievable 
at all times will be considered.   However, it is of note that this can be 
achieved either by widening the carriageway to 6.7m or by providing a shared 
pedestrian / vehicle surface which is designed appropriately. 
 
The applicant has submitted both a Transportation Statement and Travel Plan 
in support of the application.  
 
The Transportation Statement has highlighted that the site is well located in 
terms of access to local amenities and facilities and that a pedestrian / cycle 
link is to be provided to the housing scheme to the west and a footpath link to 
an existing public right of way (Dinnington Footpath no. 13).  The point of 
access has been assessed and visibility can be achieved in accordance with 
Manual for Streets. 
 
The Travel Plan assessed the existing pedestrian, cycling and public transport 
facilities in the area and concluded that sustainable travel opportunities for 
residents and visitors to the proposed development are reasonable.  Local 
amenities and facilities in Dinnington are within a reasonable walk / cycle 
distance of the proposed development and bus services to Rotherham / 
Worksop are also within a reasonable walking distance.  In order to promote 
sustainable travel choices in accordance with the Council’s ‘Transport 
Assessments, Travel Plans and Parking Standards Good Practice Guidance’ 
which was adopted as part of Sites and Policies document the applicant will 
enter into a section 106 agreement with the Council for the provision of £500 
per dwelling which will be used on local improvements / travel measures to 
aid sustainable travel. 
 
In terms of the proximity of the access to Swinston Hill Road with the existing 
access onto Rowernfields, the Council’s Transportation Infrastructure Service 
has confirmed that the proposed spacing of the junction complies with the 
relevant guidance and is no different to that previously approved under 
RB2019/1943.  The location of the access has continually been identified, as 
the housing allocation in the Local Plan has always indicated that the access 
to part of the allocation would be derived from the demolition of no. 166 
Swinston Hill Road, which is included in the allocation plan.  
 
An objector has also raised issues with regard to the indicative provision of a 
potential access off the proposed access into the rear gardens of properties to 
the west of the site along Swinston Hill Road. These gardens are allocated 
residential and there are several examples along Swinston Hill Road of small 
backland developments of several dwellings, these are usually accessed 
either by demolishing a dwelling or widening an existing access to Swinston 
Hill Road, which has created several small cul-de-sacs.  The applicant has 

Page 43



shown on the indicative plan that should an owner or owners of properties on 
Swinston Hill Road to the west of the site wish to create a small development 
of houses similar to others on Swinston Hill Road then they can link up with 
the proposed access into the application site, such that the proposed 
development would not prevent development of this land.  Furthermore, this 
will potentially minimise the number of accesses to Swinston Hill Road itself in 
the future. 
 
Finally, the proposed development does not link up with the road proposed 
under the planning permission on the land to the west (RB2019/0837) 
because the land to the west lies within another land ownership and at the 
moment there is no agreement between the land owning parties  to have a 
road  which passes through the site.  The current indicative scheme has been 
designed in a comprehensive manner so that the development works as a 
whole over the entire allocation, and as part of this a pedestrian route has 
been indicated to aid pedestrian movement within the site. 
 
In addition to the above, it is not necessary to have a through road, as access 
is achieved from the application site directly onto Swinston Hill Road as 
shown in the adopted local plan, and access to the western part is achieved 
via another approved single access point on Wentworth Way.  It is considered 
that a through route would simply encourage people to drive through the 
estate which is not the objective of the layout - because there are two proper 
and acceptable access points there is no need for a link road. The layout as 
shown enables the two developments to establish character areas, and they 
are quite different in their layout approach (albeit the current proposal is in 
outline form only and only indicative).   
 
Taking the above into account, and subject to the applicant entering into a 
S106 agreement for the sustainability contribution, there are no highway 
reasons to refuse planning permission in a highways context.  Accordingly, 
the scheme is considered to be in compliance with the relevant paragraphs of 
the NPPF, Local Plan policies CS14 ‘Accessible Places and Managing 
Demand for Travel’, and SP26 ‘Sustainable Transport for Development’ and 
the relevant guidance including the Council’s adopted Parking Standards, 
Manual for Streets and South Yorkshire Residential Design Guide. Other 
matters such as parking provision on the site will be assessed at the reserved 
matters stage. 
 
Further to the above the Public Rights of Way Officer has indicated that as the 
indicative layout shows a pedestrian link into the adopted PROW (Dinnington 
Footpath No. 13) to the south of the site, a commuted sum should be paid 
towards the installation of a kissing gate. 
 
Further to the above, South Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive have 
indicated that Service 20 (fully funded by SYPTE) passes the nearest stops 
on Swinston Hill Road.  The size of this development does not justify 
contributions to the bus service, however to encourage sustainable travel and 
use of public transport the SYPTE recommend that stop 35841 (which is on 
the south side of Swinston Hill Road serving passengers travelling towards 

Page 44



Dinnington town centre) is upgraded to a new shelter, tactile paving, raised 
kerb and bus stop clearway. As service 20 operates a one-way loop in this 
area there is no need for stop improvements on the opposite carriageway. 
 
Landscape and Trees, and on site provision of open space 
 
Policy CS21 ‘Landscape’ states: “New development will be required to 
safeguard and enhance the quality, character, distinctiveness and amenity 
value of the borough’s landscapes…” 
 
Policy SP32 ‘Green Infrastructure and Landscape’ states: “The Council will 
require proposals for all new development to support the protection, 
enhancement, creation and management of multi-functional green 
infrastructure assets and networks including landscape, proportionate to the 
scale and impact of the development…” 
 
A broad assessment of the potential landscape capacity of the site to 
accommodate development was undertaken as part of the evidence base for 
the Local Plan which was adopted in June 2018.  The Site Development 
Guidelines for H81 were prepared on the basis of this evidence. The site lies 
within the landscape character area 9a, East Rotherham Limestone Plateau, 
which is considered to be of moderate sensitivity to change.  The site does 
not lie within a strategic Green Infrastructure corridor. 
 
Within the site specific development guidelines, set out within the Sites & 
Policies Document several are relevant to landscape and are necessary to 
ensure that any new development is well integrated within the existing 
residential settlement.  These include: 
 

4) Landscape character impact – the retention of existing boundary 
vegetation will offer screening and setting for the development. Existing 
vegetation to boundaries is indicated to be retained. A tree constraints 
plan has been submitted but as the layout is not yet fixed, the full 
impact cannot be assessed at this time. This can be secured via 
condition on the outline consent along with a requirement for a 
Landscape masterplan to be submitted either prior to reserved matters 
coming forward or as an accompaniment to them. 

 
5) A Landscape Assessment will be needed to assess and manage the 
impact of potential new development on landscape character and on 
natural landscape features such as trees and hedgerows. This has not 
been provided at this stage but would arguably be better submitted 
once the layout of the development has been fixed i.e. with a reserved 
matters application.  Only then can the impact of the development be 
fully assessed. This is to be conditioned if necessary. 

 
6) Development proposals shall provide a strong structural landscape 
framework within which this development will sit. The appropriate long 
term management and maintenance of any existing or newly created 
Green Infrastructure assets within the development will need to be 

Page 45



explored and funded. This should be provided with any reserved 
matters applications submitted in the future. 

 
Accordingly, it is considered that at this stage and subject to conditions the 
impact of the development on the landscape can be suitably mitigated and the 
landscape design details of the site itself will be assessed during the 
determination of any subsequent Reserved Matters application. 
 
In terms of on-site provision of open space the indicative layout plan shows an 
area of public open space within the site.  Paragraph 96 of the NPPF states: 
“Access to a network of high quality open spaces and opportunities for sport 
and physical activity is important for the health and well-being of 
communities.”  Paragraph 98 states: “Planning policies and decisions should 
protect and enhance public rights of way and access, including taking 
opportunities to provide better facilities for users…” In addition, the site forms 
part of the larger residential allocation H81 and should be assessed as part of 
this overall site, which can clearly accommodate more than 35 dwellings. As 
such, the requirements of policy SP37 ‘New and Improvements to Existing 
Green Space’ would still be relevant in this instance. 
 
Policy SP37 states:  
 
“a. Residential development schemes of 36 dwellings or more shall provide 55 
square metres of Green Space per dwelling on site to ensure that all new 
homes are: 
 

i. within 280 metres of a Green Space; and 
ii. ideally within 840 metres of a Neighbourhood Green Space (as defined 

in the Rotherham Green Space Strategy 2010); and 
iii. within 400 metres of an equipped play area… 

 
d. In all cases where new Green Space does not have to be provided on site, 
then developer contributions will be sought to enhance existing Green Space 
based on an assessment of need within the local area at the time of any 
planning application and proportionate to the scale and nature of the planned 
development…” 
 
The development of up to 46 dwellings would require 55 sq. metres of public 
open space on site.  This would equate to 2,530 sq. metres, the indicative 
layout plan proposes an area of public open space to the west of the site 
adjacent to the Taylor Wimpey site and would equate to approximately 1,376 
sq. metres which is below the threshold if the upper limit permitted by this 
outline application are proposed in the subsequent reserved matters 
application.  However, all but a small portion of the site would be within 280 
metres of the adjacent public open space off Birkdale Avenue  known as the 
Swinston Hill Recreation Ground which can be accessed through the 
neighbouring Taylor Wimpey site and even the properties in the far south-east 
corner of the site would only be approximately 286 metres away.  As such the 
public open space proposed on this site together with the majority of the site 

Page 46



being within 280 metres of a public open space would be sufficient to satisfy 
the requirements of SP37 a)(i).  
 
 
Notwithstanding the above, the site does not fall within 400m of equipped play 
so a contribution per unit in line with the neighbouring development to provide 
a play area on the adjacent green space known as Swinston Hill Recreation 
Ground to the north, north-west of the adjacent development site, would be 
required in order to build the equipped play capacity in this new estate and for 
the wider community. 
 
The contribution required for the provision of equipped play would equate to 
£390.69 per unit plus a £2,450 contribution to ongoing maintenance costs 
(£70 per unit). 
 
It is therefore considered that the provision of improvements to the public 
open space in close proximity to the site by way of equipped play to be 
secured through a s106 contribution from both this development and the 
development adjacent will offer both existing and future residents with 
opportunities for sport and physical activity, and together with the site 
providing access to the local footpath network to the countryside to the south, 
the scheme will give opportunities for the improvement in the health and well-
being of the community. 
 
In respect of trees, the development will require the removal of at least 27 
trees, but given the outline nature of this application no replacement planting 
details have been provided.   
 
The Council’s Tree Service have indicated that whilst there is no objection to 
the general principle of development as the trees to be removed are lower 
quality trees, they do represent a reduction in tree cover and the 
environmental benefits they provide.  Accordingly, there are concerns over the 
lack of tree planting proposed, and it is recommended that details of 
replacement planting of at least 27 new trees, along with details of ground 
protection are submitted in support of any future reserved matters application, 
and several conditions shall be imposed requiring this. 
 
Ecology / Biodiversity 
 
Paragraph 170 of the NPPF states planning decisions should contribute to 
and enhance the natural and local environment by (amongst other things) 
minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity. 
 
Policy CS20 ‘Biodiversity and Geodiversity’ states: “The Council will conserve 
and enhance Rotherham’s natural environment.  Biodiversity and geodiversity 
resources will be protected and measures will be taken to enhance these 
resources …” 
 

Page 47



Policy SP33 ‘Conserving the Natural Environment’ states: “Development will 
be expected to enhance biodiversity and geodiversity on-site with the aim of 
contributing to wider biodiversity and geodiversity delivery…” 
 
Policy SP35 ‘Protected and Priority Species’ states: “Planning permission for 
development likely to have a direct or indirect adverse impact on the following 
will only be granted if they can demonstrate that there are no alternative sites 
with less or no harmful impacts that could be developed and that mitigation 
and / or compensation measures can be put in place that enable the status of 
the species to be conserved or enhanced.” 
 
It is noted that the submitted Ecological Appraisal assessed the impacts on 
Swinston Hill Plantation due to it being a Local Wildlife Site and approximately 
400m of the site.  It is considered that there may be a small impact in terms of 
increased human trampling from increased dog walking. It is considered that 
more could be delivered in terms of biodiversity enhancement such as 
planting native trees and shrubs, bat sensitive lighting and bat / bird boxes on 
properties. 
 
In light of the above the planting of native trees and shrubs will be secured 
through the submission of a detailed landscape masterplan / scheme that has 
been recommended as a condition by Landscape colleagues.  In respect of 
sensitive lighting an informative will be imposed in this regard, a further 
informative shall be imposed in respect of nesting birds.  In addition in respect 
of bat / bird boxes a condition will be imposed to require the submission of 
their details and positions within the site as part of the reserved matters 
application. 
 
The Yorkshire Wildlife Trust have indicated that the submitted Preliminary 
Ecological Appraisal submitted with the application be updated to an 
Environmental Impact Assessment to consider the full impacts of final 
landscape design on habitats and species on site.  They have also indicated 
that the proposals should demonstrate a ‘measurable’ net gain in biodiversity 
as set out in paragraph 175(d) of the NPPF. 
 
The comments received from the YWT are noted but at this stage the 
information provided with the outline application is deemed to be sufficient in 
respect of the scale and nature of the development.  However, a condition 
shall be imposed requesting the submission of an Environmental Impact 
Assessment with the first reserved matters application and also that the 
details submitted with the reserved matters application should demonstrate a 
‘measurable’ net gain in biodiversity as set out in paragraph 175(d) of the 
NPPF. 
 
Policy SP36 ‘Soil Resources’ states, in part, that: “Development will be 
required to demonstrate the sustainable use of soils during construction and 
operation stages, where appropriate and to be determined in discussion with 
the Local Planning Authority…... Built development should be designed and 
sited with an appreciation of the relative functional capacity of soil resources 
and threats to soils with the aim of preserving or enhancing identified soil 

Page 48



functions. Measures to incorporate green space and sustainable drainage 
elements that retain permeable surfaces, allow water infiltration, reduce soil 
erosion and maintain natural soil functions will be supported. Measures that 
waste soil resource, reduce soil quality, compact or pollute soils or that create 
a predominantly impermeable surface should be avoided.” 
 
The proposal includes areas of green open space and sustainable drainage 
methods are to be used.  For this reason it is considered appropriate that the 
submission of details of the quality of soils on site and their movement and 
temporary storage during construction is conditioned to ensure that the 
character of the soil to be conserved is done so as part of a Construction 
Management Plan. 
 
Therefore from the information provided and subject to conditions the 
proposal would not adversely affect biodiversity and will provide net gains for 
biodiversity.  Accordingly, the scheme would be in compliance with paragraph 
170 of the NPPF and Local Plan policies CS20 Biodiversity and Geodiversity’; 
SP33 ‘Conserving the Natural Environment’  and SP35 ‘Protected and Priority 
Species’. 
 
Drainage and Flood Risk 
 
The Site Development Guidelines states the areas down stream of this site 
are known to be at high risk from surface water flooding. A Flood Risk 
Assessment will be required for any development on this site and additional 
restrictions may be imposed on discharge rates. On-site flood risk from 
overland flows should be assessed. 
 
The site is located with Flood Zone 1, but given the size and scale of the 
development there is potential for increased surface water flows through the 
development that could impact on future residents of the scheme and existing 
residents of neighbouring properties. As such, a flood risk assessment and 
drainage details have been submitted in support of the application. 
 
Policy CS25 ‘Dealing with Flood Risk’ states proposals will be supported 
which ensure that new development is not subject to unacceptable levels of 
flood risk, does not result in increased flood risk elsewhere and, where 
possible, achieves reductions in flood risk overall.  Furthermore, policy SP47 
‘Understanding and Managing Flood Risk and Drainage’ states the Council 
will expect proposals to demonstrate an understanding of the flood route of 
surface water flows through the proposed development; control surface water 
run-off as near to its source as possible through a sustainable drainage 
approach to surface water management (SuDS) and consider the possibility 
of providing flood resilience works and products for properties to minimise the 
risk of internal flooding problems.  These policies are supported by 
paragraphs 163 and 165 of the NPPF. 
 
The Council’s Drainage Engineer has noted that soakaways are proposed for 
disposal of surface water, no infiltration tests have been carried out for this 
site and they state they would object to any reserved matters application 

Page 49



which proposes infiltration as a means of surface water disposal if infiltration 
tests have not been carried out and it be demonstrated that ground conditions 
are suitable.  Accordingly, any reserved matters application should be 
supported with details and result of infiltration testing. 
 
Further to the above, some calculations and drainage information have been 
provided, but these are based on assumptions and will need to be re-done at 
reserved matters stage based on actual information. 
 
Having regard to the above there are no objections in principle to this outline 
application from a drainage perspective, but several conditions will need to be 
imposed to ensure sufficient and suitable testing is carried out, the results of 
which are to be submitted with any reserved matters application, along with 
full drainage details. 
 
It is therefore considered that subject to conditions the proposed development 
would comply with the requirements of the NPPF at paragraphs 163 and 165 
and policies CS25 ‘Dealing with Flood Risk’ and SP47 ‘Understanding and 
Managing Flood Risk and Drainage’.  As such it would raise no drainage or 
flood risk issues either to future residents of the site or residents of existing 
surrounding properties. 
 
General Amenity 
  
Paragraph 127(f) of the NPPF states planning decisions should ensure that 
developments create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which 
promote health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing 
and future users, and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not 
undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience. 
 
Local Plan policy CS27 ‘Community Health and Safety’ states: “Development 
will be supported which protects, promotes or contributes to securing a 
healthy and safe environment and minimises health inequalities.”  Policy 
SP52 ‘Pollution Control’ states: “Development proposals that are likely to 
cause pollution, or be exposed to pollution, will only be permitted where it can 
be demonstrated that mitigation measures will minimise potential impacts to 
levels that protect health, environmental quality and amenity.   
 
In respect of amenity there are two elements 
 

i) the impact of the construction phase on existing local residents; and 
ii) the impact of the development once constructed on the amenity of both 

existing local residents and future residents of the site. 
 
Impact of the construction phase on existing local residents: 
 
In relation to construction, while some noise is to be expected with 
development works of this scale it is important to limit the impact of the works 
on existing nearby residents.  Good construction practice and appropriate 
consideration of working hours should ensure that this occurs.  This will be 

Page 50



secured by the imposition of a condition requiring the submission of a 
Construction Management Plan which include details of access to the site for 
construction vehicles, traffic management during construction work, location 
of site compounds and staff parking; measures to deal with dust and mud on 
the highway; and details of hours of construction and deliveries.   
 
Impact of the development once constructed on the amenity of both existing 
local residents and future residents of the site 
 
SP55 ‘Design Principles’ states that: “…the design and layout of buildings to 
enable sufficient sunlight and daylight to penetrate into and between 
buildings, and ensure that adjoining land or properties are protected from 
overshadowing.” 
 
In assessing the impact of the proposed development on the amenity of 
neighbouring residents, regard will be had to the inter-house spacing 
standards set out in the South Yorkshire Residential Design Guide which 
states there should be at least 21 metres between principle elevations and no 
habitable room windows and no habitable room window should be within 10 
metres of a boundary with a neighbouring property.  These distances together 
with the 45 degree horizontal and 25 degree vertical sight lines ensure that 
proposed dwellings will not impact on existing residents in respect of being 
overbearing, affect outlook, cause overlooking or result in overshadowing of 
habitable rooms and private gardens. 
 
With regard to the impact of the dwellings once constructed on the occupants 
of existing properties to the north, it is noted that some residents have raised 
objections on the grounds of privacy and overlooking from some of the 
proposed properties.  These concerns are noted, but as the current scheme is 
in outline only and details in respect of siting, layout and scale are not 
currently being considered under this application, limited weight can currently 
be given to these concerns.  Such details will be considered at the reserved 
matters stage. 
 
Notwithstanding the above, the indicative layout shows that the site can be 
developed without harming the amenity of existing neighbouring residents, but 
this will be considered in depth at the reserved matters stage. 
 
Further to the above, the indicative layout shows that the inter house spacing 
standards between properties within the site, as well as proposed rear garden 
areas can be achieved in line with the guidance set out within the South 
Yorkshire Residential Design Guide, but this will also be considered in depth 
at the reserved matters stage. 
 
Objection has been received in respect of the curved nature of the access 
road close to the boundary of nos. 164 and 168 Swinston Hill Road; the 
Council’s Transportation Infrastructure Service have noted that the first 10 
metres of the access road should be at right angles to Swinston Hill Road, this 
will create a slight bend as indicated on the illustrative layout plan.  The bend 
would not need to be as indicated and could follow the northern boundary.  

Page 51



Furthermore, the indicative plans show there will be sufficient space to 
provide some form of landscaping / enchancement to the boundaries adjacent 
to neighbouring properties to reduce the impact of noise and general 
disturbance from vehicles using the access road. In any event it is not 
considered that the use of this access for the limited number of dwellings 
proposed (including any additional development on the land to the east of the 
application site using the access) would be significant such hat it would have 
a significant detrimental impact on the occupiers of the nearby existing 
properties.  
 
With regard to crime and the fear of crime it is noted that the South Yorkshire 
Police Architectural Liaison Officer has recommended that the scheme be 
designed in accordance with Secured by Design principles.  Furthermore, the 
scheme proposes dwellings with windows in the side elevations overlooking 
parking areas and footpaths to provide additional natural surveillance. 
 
It is therefore considered that from the information available the site can be 
developed without adversely impacting on the amenity of local residents and 
can be developed in accordance with adopted Local Plan policy SP55 ‘Design 
Principles’ and the requirements of the South Yorkshire Residential Design 
Guide, but these issues will be considered in depth at the reserved matters 
stage. 
 
Air Quality 
 
Policy CS30 ‘Low Carbon & Renewable Energy Generation’ states: 
“Development must seek to reduce carbon dioxide emissions thorough the 
inclusion of mitigation measures…”  In addition regard will be had to the 
guidance contained within Council’s adopted SPD ‘Air Quality and Emissions’. 
 
NPPF states at paragraph 110 that amongst other things applications for 
development should be designed to enable charging of plug-in and other 
ultra-low emission vehicles in safe, accessible and convenient locations. 
 
Air quality in the Dinnington area is generally good, however emissions to air 
resulting from all new developments should be mitigated. The proposed 
development for up to 46 dwellings is classified as a Medium proposal as set 
out in the adopted Rotherham SPD ‘Air Quality and Emissions’.  
 
Box 3 of the SPD includes the following mitigation options: 
 

 Provision of charging points for electric vehicle charging – 1 point per 
unit  

 Consideration of air quality in designing the layout of the development;  

 Provision of secure cycle storage  

 Provision of incentives for the use of public transport (Travel Plan). 
 
With regard to the application there are no air quality issues and as such 
subject to a condition requiring details of Electric Vehicle charging points 
within the development to be submitted and approved before the first dwelling 

Page 52



is occupied, the proposal would comply with policy CS30, the adopted SPD 
‘Air Quality and Emissions’ and paragraph 110 of the NPPF.   
 
Affordable Housing 
 
In regard to affordable housing provision, Policy CS7 ‘Housing Mix and 
Affordability’ states: 
 

a) Proposals for new housing will be expected to deliver a mix of dwelling 
sizes, type and tenure taking into account an up to date Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment for the entire housing market area and 
the needs of the market, in order to meet the present and future needs 
of all members of the community. 

b) The Council will seek the provision of affordable housing on all housing 
development according to the targets set out below, subject to this 
being consistent with the economic viability of the development: 

a. Sites of 15 dwellings or more shall provide 25% affordable 
homes on site… 

 
The developer has confirmed that 25% of the units proposed on site will be 
affordable.  The tenure and unit types will be decided at the reserved matters 
stage and will be subject to an appropriate condition. 
 
Education 
 
The Education Service has indicated that this site would not require an 
education contribution. 
 
Minerals 
 
The site is located within a Mineral Safeguarding Area, policy CS26 ‘Minerals’ 
states: “Proposals for non-mineral development within the Mineral 
Safeguarding Areas…will be supported where it can be demonstrated that: 
 

a. the proposal incorporates the prior extraction of any minerals of 
economic value in an environmentally acceptable way; or 

b. mineral resources are either not present or are of no economic 
value; or 

c. it is not possible to extract the minerals in an environmentally 
acceptable way or this would have unacceptable impacts on 
neighbouring uses or the amenity of local communities; or  

d. the extraction of minerals is not feasible; or 
e. the need for the development outweighs the need to safeguard 

the minerals for the future; or 
f. the development is minor or temporary in nature; or 
g. development would not prevent the future extraction of minerals 

beneath or adjacent to the site…” 
 

Page 53



The applicant considers it unlikely that the site would be granted future 
permission for extraction of minerals and as such development for residential 
purposes is not considered a loss of a future resource.  This assessment is 
supported and as such policy CS26 has been satisfied. 
 
Land Contamination 
 
Historically the land has largely been used for agricultural purposes with a 
small portion of the land given over to residential housing.  A number of barns, 
storage buildings and outbuildings have been constructed in the past.  Some 
of these appear to have been demolished and some in varying stages of 
disrepair. 
 
Made ground of variable quality is considered likely to be present below the 
areas of the former building footprints which could give rise to a source of 
potential contamination.  Such contaminants may include: 
 

 Presence of naturally occurring metals in the soil. 

 Presence of heavy metals / metalloids, PAHs, sulphates associated 
with the former buildings on site and the potential presence of made 
ground across the site. 

 Presence of organic substances in the soil associated with past 
potential farm use. 

 Presence of asbestos containing materials in near surface soils. 
 
There is also some potential for the site to be impacted from contamination 
associated with the past farming practices (pesticides, herbicides and 
fungicides), the potential storage of fuels (unknown tank container), chemicals 
and equipment and any potential infilling of the land over time.  Asbestos 
contamination at the surface of the site may also be an issue from the 
collapse of the barn roofing. 
 
Residential development is proposed for the site which could introduce a 
sensitive receptor (i.e. human health) to the site with the potential for 
exposure to soil contamination, if present, in private gardens or areas of soft 
landscaping. 
 
In is therefore recommended that a Phase II Intrusive Investigation is 
undertaken to assess for the potential presence and extent of contamination 
and to adequately characterise ground conditions across the site to provide 
the necessary geotechnical data for foundation design.  This will be requested 
to be submitted for consideration with the reserved matters application. 
 
In addition to the above Remediation works may be required to bring the site 
to a suitable condition to be protective of human health for its proposed end 
use. 

Page 54



Archaeology 
 
The Site Development Guidelines states that an application will need to be 
supported with a Heritage Statement for Archaeology.   
 
As part of the Local Development Framework Development Sites Assessment 
in 2012, Wessex Archaeology assessed the archaeological potential of a 
large area, which includes both the current application and the wider site to 
the west.  It found that: “As the site lies within 500m of Romano-British and 
prehistoric finds there is a medium possibility of disturbing remains from these 
periods of unknown significance.”  The Heritage Impact Assessment which 
was submitted with this application, having reviewed some of the available 
archaeological and historical evidence, concluded that that archaeological 
evaluation is appropriate here, to characterise the archaeological potential. 
 
Taking into account the results and recommendation for the adjacent 
development plot (RB2019/0837), South Yorkshire Archaeology Service have 
recommended that the area is archaeologically evaluated by geophysical 
survey, to be followed by a scheme of archaeological trenching.  This should 
be done prior to submission of a reserved matters application for the plot and 
the results submitted with any further planning applications, to inform any 
recommendations on the reserved matters of the proposed development.  
This will ensure that the site is archaeologically evaluated in accordance with 
an approved scheme and that sufficient information on any archaeological 
remains exists to help determine any reserved matters. 
 
Other Considerations 
 
The four South Yorkshire Authorities have committed to ensuring that relevant 
developments are provided with Gigabit-capable full fibre broadband. A 
condition is recommended that would address this matter. 
 
In respect of waste management requirements, it is considered that the 
information provided in the planning statement and design and access 
statement are not acceptable as regards the waste management 
requirements which are set out in policy WCS7 ‘Managing Waste In All 
Developments’.  As such a Waste Management Plan complying with WCS7 
will need to be submitted and will be secured by way of condition to any 
permitted scheme. 
 
It is considered that the issues raised by the objectors in respect of 
overdevelopment, design issues, amenity impact, ecological impact and 
drainage have been considered and assessed in the prevailing sections of the 
report. 
 
Furthermore, the issue around impact on local infrastructure such as schools 
and GP services have been considered and the Council’s Education service 
have confirmed that an education contribution will be required and the NHS 
have confirmed the size of the development would not increase demand on 
these facilities. 

Page 55



Accordingly, whilst noted it is considered that in this instance the issues raised 
by the objectors would not warrant a refusal of the application. 
 
 
Conclusion 
 
Having regard to the above, the application is considered to be acceptable in 
principle and the access arrangements would not result in highway safety 
issues.  Therefore, the outline application would comply with relevant national 
and local planning policies in respect of the principle and access and is 
subsequently recommended for approval subject to conditions, including the 
provision of 25% affordable housing on the site, and signing of a S106 
agreement for the provision of financial contributions towards improvements 
to the existing open space area to the north west, to a bus stop close to the 
site, for the promotion of sustainable travel measures and an education 
contribution, together with the provision of details of measures to manage and 
maintain any areas of public open space on the application site itself. 
 
Conditions  
 
General 
 
01 
a. Application for approval of reserved matters must be made within three 

years of the date of this permission. 
b. The development hereby approved must be begun not later than whichever 

is the later of the following dates: 
(i) The expiration of five years from the date of this permission; OR 
(ii) The expiration of two years from the final approval of the reserved 

matters or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final 
approval of the last such matter to be approved. 

 
Reason 
In order to comply with the requirements of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 
 
02 
Before the commencement of the development, details of the layout, scale, 
appearance and landscaping of the site, along with access details within the 
site, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority and 
the development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason 
No details of the matters referred to having been submitted, they are reserved 
for the subsequent approval of the Local Planning Authority. 
 

Page 56



03 
The approval of details of the access into the site relate to the access on to 
Swinston Hill Road and the first 10 metres of the carriageway; the access 
points to the rest of the housing allocation to the west and east of the site, and 
the link to the Public Right of Way to the south of the site (Dinnington 
Footpath No. 13).  
 
 
Reason 
For the avoidance of doubt. 
 
Highways 
 
04 
The detailed plans to be submitted in accordance with this outline 
permission shall include a Demolition and Construction Management Plan.  
The Demolition and Construction Management Plan shall include: 
 

 details of the proposed method of demolition of the existing property; 

 details of the proposed access to the site for all vehicles associated 
with the development on the application site; 

 traffic management measures during the demolition/construction 
work; 

 the location of the site compound and staff parking; 

 the location of the storage / loading / unloading of materials; 

 measures to deal with dust; 

 measures to deal with mud in the highway; 

 details of proposed hours of demolition/construction on/deliveries to 
the site; 

 details of the quality of soil and its movement and temporary storage 
during construction; 

and such further matters as the Local Planning Authority may consider 
necessary. 

 
The approved measures shall be implemented throughout the construction 
period. 
 
Reason  
In the interests of highway safety and residential amenity. 
 

05 
The site layout shall be designed in accordance with the South Yorkshire 
Residential Design Guide and Manual for Streets. 
 
Reason  
In the interests of highway safety. 
 
06 
Car parking facilities shall be provided in accordance with the Council’s Car 
Parking Standards. 

Page 57



Reason 
In the interests of highway safety. 
 
07 
The detailed plans to be submitted in accordance with this outline permission 
shall include details of the proposed level boarding facilities (raised kerbs, 
tactile paving and bus stop clearway) at the bus stop (35841) fronting the site. 
The approved details shall be implemented before the improved bus stop is 
brought into use. 
 
Reason 
In the interests of highway safety and to improve public transport facilities. 
 
08 
The proposed on site layout shall be designed to facilitate possible future 
vehicle access to the safeguarded land to the south east. 
 
Reason 
In the interests of highway safety and to ensure there is a means of access 
from this safeguarded land to Swinston Hill Road. 
 
09 
The detailed plans to be submitted in accordance with this outline permission 
shall include a Travel Plan.  The plan shall include clear and unambiguous 
objectives, modal split targets together with a time bound programme of 
implementation, monitoring and regular review and improvement. The Local 
Planning Authority shall be informed of and give prior approval in writing to 
any subsequent improvements or modifications to the Travel Plan following 
submission of progress performance reports as time tabled in the programme 
of implementation. 
 
Reason 
In order to promote sustainable transport choices. 
 
Landscapes and Trees 
 
10 
All applications for the approval of reserved matters shall include a Landscape 
Masterplan.  Such scheme shall be prepared to a minimum scale of 1:500 and 
shall clearly describe in plan, section and by other visual representations the 
following: 
 

 Proposals for mitigating the impact of the development upon the 
borough landscape and for providing a strong and attractive structural 
landscape framework to the development. 

 Retained existing vegetation, and proposals for restoration and 
enhancement, where relevant. 

 Areas of structural and ornamental tree, shrub and other planting that 
are to be carried out, to the site perimeter. 

 An indication of planting character, key species and tree planting sizes. 

Page 58



 
The scheme shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the approved 
landscape masterplan. 
 
Reason 
To ensure that there is a well laid out scheme of healthy trees and shrubs in 
the interests of amenity. 
 
11 
The detailed plans to be submitted in accordance with this outline permission 
shall include a detailed landscape scheme. The landscape scheme shall 
cover all plots, landscape buffers and POS areas and shall be prepared to a 
minimum scale of 1:200 and clearly identify through supplementary drawings 
where necessary:  
  

 The extent of existing planting, including those trees or areas of 
vegetation that are to be retained, and those that it is proposed to 
remove.  

 The extent of any changes to existing ground levels, where these are 
proposed.  

 Any constraints in the form of existing or proposed site services, or 
visibility requirements.  

 Areas of structural and ornamental planting that are to be carried out.    

 The positions, design, materials and type of any boundary treatment to 
be erected.  

 A planting plan and schedule detailing the proposed species, siting, 
quality and size specification, and planting distances. 

 A written specification for ground preparation and soft landscape 
works. - The programme for implementation.  

 Full planting specification - tree size, species, the numbers of trees and 
any changes from the original application proposals.  

 Locations of all proposed species.  

 Comprehensive details of ground/tree pit preparation to include:  
o Plans detailing adequate soil volume provision to allow the tree 

to grow to maturity  
o Engineering solutions to demonstrate the tree will not interfere 

with structures (e.g. root barriers/deflectors) in the future  
o Staking/tying method(s).  
o Five year post planting maintenance and inspection schedule.  

 
The scheme shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the approved 
landscape scheme and in accordance with the appropriate standards and 
codes of practice within a timescale agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning 
Authority.    
 
All tree planting must be carried out in full accordance with the approved 
scheme in the nearest planting season (1st October to 28th February 
inclusive). The quality of all approved tree planting should be carried out to 

Page 59



the levels detailed in British Standard 8545, Trees: from nursery to 
independence in the landscape - Recommendations.  
 
Any trees which die, are removed, uprooted, significantly damaged, become 
diseased or malformed within five years from the completion of planting, must 
be replaced during the nearest planting season (1st October to 31st March 
inclusive) with a tree/s of the same size, species and quality as previously 
approved.  
 
Reason 
To ensure that there is a well laid out scheme of healthy trees and shrubs in 
the interests of amenity. 
 
12 
The detailed plans to be submitted in accordance with this outline permission 
shall include a suitable scheme (Arboricultural Method Statement) for the 
protection of existing trees and hedgerows to be retained.  All protection 
measures must fully detail each phase of the development process taking into 
account demolition/site clearance works, all construction works and hard and 
soft landscaping works. Details shall include the following:  
 

 Full survey of all trees on site and those within influencing distance on 
adjacent sites in accordance with BS5837*, with tree works proposals. 
All trees must be plotted on a site plan**, clearly and accurately 
depicting trunk locations, root protection areas and canopy spreads.  

 A plan** detailing all trees and hedgerows planned for retention and 
removal.  

 A schedule of tree works for all the retained trees specifying pruning 
and other remedial or preventative work, whether for physiological, 
hazard abatement, aesthetic or operational reasons. All tree works 
shall be carried out in accordance with BS 3998.  

 Soil assessments/survey  

 Timing and phasing of works  

 Site specific demolition and hard surface removal specifications  

 Site specific construction specifications (e.g. in connection with 
foundations, bridging, water features, surfacing)  

 Access arrangements and car parking  

 Level changes  

 Landscaping proposals  

 A Tree protection plan** in accordance with BS5837* detailing all 
methods of protection, including but not restricted to: locations of 
construction exclusion zones, root protection areas, fit for purpose 
fencing and ground protection, service routes, works access space, 
material/machinery/waste storage and permanent & temporary hard 
surfaces.  

 Soil remediation plans, where unauthorised access has damaged root 
protection areas in the construction exclusion zones.  

 Details of the arboricultural supervision schedule. All tree protection 
methods detailed in the approved Arboricultural Method Statement 

Page 60



shall not be moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all 
works including external works have been completed and all 
equipment, machinery and surplus materials have been removed from 
the site, unless the prior approval of the Local Planning Authority has 
first been sought and obtained.  

 
*Using the most recent revision the of the Standard  
** Plans must be of a minimum scale of 1:200 (unless otherwise agreed by 
the Local Planning Authority)  
 
Reason 
To ensure appropriate tree protection in the interests of protecting the visual 
amenity of the area, contributing to the quality and character of Rotherham’s 
environment, air quality and adapting to and mitigating climate change. 
 
 
Sustainable development/Air Quality 
 
13 
Prior to the occupation of any dwelling, details of the infrastructure to allow 
every future homeowner on the site to fit their own specific Electric Vehicle 
Charging connection plate, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority.  Each dwelling shall not be occupied until the approved 
infrastructure has been provided, and they shall thereafter be retained.  
 
Reason 
In the interests of sustainable development and air quality. 
 
Ecology 
 
14 
The detailed plans to be submitted in accordance with this outline permission 
shall include details of bat & bird boxes, including their design and siting.  The 
approved details shall be implemented within a timeframe to be agreed with 
the Local Planning Authority and shall thereafter be retained and maintained 
unless otherwise agreed with the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason 
In order to make adequate provision for species protected by the Wildlife & 
Countryside Act 1981and to mitigate the loss of a small number of sub-
optimal roosting features. 
 
15 
With the submission of the first reserved matters application an Environmental 
Impact Assessment shall be submitted.  Any mitigation measures detailed 
within shall be implemented within a timeframe to be agreed with the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 

Page 61



Reason 
In order to fully assess the impact of the development and to make adequate 
provision for species protected by the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 and to 
mitigate the loss of a small number of sub-optimal roosting features. 
 
Land Contamination 
 
16 
In accordance with Section 6 - Further Investigation - p13 of the report entitled 
‘Phase 1 Site Appraisal (Desk Study) for Land to the rear of 166 Swinston Hill 
Road, Dinnington – prepared by GRM Development Solutions, dated August 
2019, reference P9041’ a Phase II Intrusive Site Investigation shall be 
undertaken to assess the geotechnical and geo-environmental constraints at 
the site.  The investigation and subsequent risk assessment must be 
undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings must be 
produced. The written report shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
 
The above should be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the 
Environment Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11’ and Contaminated Land Science Reports (SR2 -4). 
 
Reason 
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours 
and other offsite receptors. 
 
17 
Subject to the findings above a Remediation Method Statement shall be 
provided with the detailed plans to be submitted in accordance with this 
outline permission.  The works shall be of such a nature as to render 
harmless the identified contamination given the proposed end-use of the site 
and surrounding environment including any controlled waters, the site must 
not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environment Protection 
Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of the land after remediation.  The 
approved Remediation works shall be carried out in full on site under a quality 
assurance scheme to demonstrate compliance with the proposed 
methodology and best practice guidance.  The Local Planning Authority must 
be given two weeks written notification of commencement of the remediation 
scheme works. 
 
Reason 
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours 
and other offsite receptors. 
 

Page 62



18 
In the event that during development works unexpected significant 
contamination (including asbestos containing materials) is encountered at any 
stage of the process, the Local Planning Authority shall be notified in writing 
immediately.  Any requirements for remedial works shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Works thereafter shall be 
carried out in accordance with an approved Method Statement.  This is to 
ensure the development will be suitable for use and that identified 
contamination will not present significant risks to human health or the 
environment. 
 
Reason 
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours 
and other offsite receptors. 
 
19 
If subsoils / topsoils are required to be imported to site for remedial works, 
then these soils will need to be tested at a rate and frequency to be agreed 
with the Local Planning Authority to ensure they are free from contamination.  
The results of testing will need to be presented in the format of a Validation 
Report. 
 
Reason 
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours 
and other offsite receptors. 
 
20 
Following completion of any remedial/ground preparation works a Validation 
Report should be forwarded to the Local Planning Authority for review and 
comment.  The validation report shall include details of the remediation works 
and quality assurance certificates to show that the works have been carried 
out in full accordance with the approved methodology. Details of any post-
remedial sampling and analysis to show the site has reached the required 
clean-up criteria shall be included in the validation report together with the 
necessary documentation detailing what waste materials have been removed 
from the site. The site shall not be brought into use until such time as all 
validation data has been approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
  
Reason 
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours 
and other offsite receptors. 

Page 63



Archaeology 
 
21 
Prior to the submission of any reserved matters application, an archaeological 
evaluation of the application area will be undertaken in accordance with a 
written scheme of investigation that has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Drawing upon the results of this field 
evaluation stage, a mitigation strategy for any further archaeological works 
and/or preservation in situ shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority and the approved strategy then implemented. 

 
Reason 

To ensure that the site is archaeologically evaluated in accordance with an 
approved scheme and that sufficient information on any archaeological 
remains exists to help determine any reserved matters. 

 
Drainage 
 
22 
The detailed plans to be submitted in accordance with this outline permission 
shall include a foul and surface water drainage scheme for the site, based on 
sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and 
hydro geological context of the development. The scheme shall include the 
construction details and shall subsequently be fully implemented in 
accordance with the approved details before the development is completed.  
During construction, if the approved scheme has not been implemented, 
temporary arrangements shall be put in place to limit surface water runoff to 
the agreed discharge rate. 
 
The scheme to be submitted shall demonstrate:    
 

 The utilisation of holding sustainable drainage techniques (e.g. 
soakaways); 

 The limitation of surface water run-off to equivalent greenfield rates (i.e. 
maximum of 5 litres/second/Ha); 

 The ability to accommodate surface water run-off on-site up to the 
critical 1 in 100 year event plus a 30% allowance for climate change, 
based upon the submission of drainage calculations; and 

 A maintenance plan including responsibility for the future maintenance 
of drainage features and how this is to be guaranteed for the lifetime of 
the development. 

 The ability to connect in to the foul water drainage system on the site to 
the west within the H81 Housing Allocation site and also to 
accommodate foul water drainage from the remainder of the H81 
Housing Allocation site to the east, unless otherwise agreed in writing 
based on separate foul drainage solutions being pursued.  

 
 

Page 64



Reason 
To ensure that the development can be properly drained and provides a 
comprehensive drainage scheme for the whole housing allocation. 
 
23 
The detailed plans to be submitted in accordance with this outline permission 
shall include a Flood Risk Assessment based on existing flood risk, proposals 
to mitigate flood risk and sustainable drainage principles for the development, 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason 
To ensure that the development can be properly drained and will be safe from 
flooding. 
 
24 
Construction of roads or dwellings shall not begin until a flood route drawing 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The drawing shall show how exceptional flows generated within or 
from outside the site will be managed, including overland flow routes, internal 
and external levels and design of buildings to prevent entry of water. The 
development shall not be brought into use until such approved details are 
implemented. 
 
Reason 
To ensure that the development can be properly drained. 
 
25 
The detailed plans to be submitted in accordance with this outline permission 
shall include a flood route drawing. The drawing shall show how exceptional 
flows generated within or from outside the site will be managed, including 
overland flow routes, internal and external levels and design of buildings to 
prevent entry of water.  
 
Reason 
To ensure that the development can be properly drained and will be safe from 
flooding 
 
Waste Management Plan 
 
26 
Prior to the development being first occupied a Waste Management Plan shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
Plan will need to include: 
 

1) information on the amount and type of waste that will be generated 
from the site; 

2) measures to reduce, re-use and recycle waste within the development, 
including the provision of on-site separation and treatment facilities 
(using fixed or mobile plants where appropriate);  

Page 65



3) an assessment of the potential to re-use or adapt existing buildings on 
the site (if demolished it must explain why it is not possible to retain 
them);  

4) design and layouts that allow effective sorting and storing of 
recyclables and recycling and composting of waste and facilitate waste 
collection operations during the lifetime of the development;  

5) measures to minimise the use of raw materials and minimise pollution 
of any waste;  

6) details on how residual waste will be disposed in an environmentally 
responsible manner and transported during the construction process 
and beyond;  

7) construction and design measures that minimise the use of raw 
materials and encourage the re-use of recycled or secondary 
resources (particularly building materials) and also ensure maximum 
waste recovery once the development is completed; and  

8) details on how the development will be monitored following its 
completion. 

 
The agreed details shall be implemented and thereafter maintained. 
 
Reason 
To minimise the amount of waste used during the construction and lifetime of 
the project and to encourage the re-use and recycling of waste materials on 
site. 
 
Communication 
 
27 
Details of measures to facilitate the provision of gigabit-capable full fibre 
broadband for the development hereby approved, including a timescale for 
implementation, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details. 
 
Reason 
In accordance with Local Plan Policy SP61 ‘Telecommunications’ and 
Chapter 10 of the NPPF. 
 
Informatives 
 
01 
The detailed plans to be submitted in accordance with this outline permission 
shall include for provision of a vehicular access link into the land to the east, 
and pedestrian accesses to the land to the west and to the public footpath 
running along the southern boundary of the site. 
 
02 
You should note that the Council’s Neighbourhood Enforcement have a legal 
duty to investigate any complaints about noise or dust which may arise during 
the construction phase. If a statutory nuisance is found to exist they must 

Page 66



serve an Abatement Notice under the Environmental Protection Act 1990. 
Failure to comply with the requirements of an Abatement Notice may result in 
a fine of up to £20,000 upon conviction in the Magistrates' Court.  It is 
therefore recommended that you give serious consideration to reducing 
general disturbance by restricting the hours that operations and deliveries 
take place, minimising dust and preventing mud, dust and other materials 
being deposited on the highway.   
 
03 
Nature conservation protection under UK and EU legislation is irrespective of 
the planning system and the applicant should therefore ensure that any 
activity undertaken, regardless of the need for any planning consent, complies 
with the appropriate wildlife legislation. If any protected species are found on 
the site then work should halt immediately and an appropriately qualified 
ecologist should be consulted.  For definitive information primary legislative 
sources should be consulted. 
 
It is recommended that any vegetation clearance (includes all ground level 
vegetation as well as standard trees and scrub) undertaken within the site is 
conducted outside of the breeding bird season (March – end August inclusive) 
or in accordance with checking surveys undertaken by appropriately qualified 
ecologists prior to and during the construction phase of the development. 
 
04 
Severn Trent Water advise that although our statutory sewer records do not 
show any public sewers within the area you have specified, there may be 
sewers that have been recently adopted under The Transfer Of Sewer 
Regulations 2011. Public sewers have statutory protection and may not be 
built close to, directly over or be diverted without consent and you are advised 
to contact Severn Trent Water to discuss your proposals.  
 
Severn Trent will seek to assist you obtaining a solution which protects both 
the public sewer and the building. 
 
05 
In respect of drainage calculations and condition 22 above the design will also 
need to take the following into account: 
 

 Due to the topography of the site, each plot may not be able to store 
the exceedance flows for the 1 in 100 + CC event storms. A flood 
exceedance route plan should be developed to ensure the proposed 
properties are not affected. 

 Exceedance flows for the 1 in 100 + CC event storms should be kept 
within the site boundary and not spill onto neighbouring sites. 

 The close proximity of the soakaways to each other may affect to 
efficiency of infiltration. Soakaways should be ideally positioned away 
from each other and a minimum of 5m away from structures. 

 
 
 

Page 67



06 
It is recommended that the development is designed and built to Secured by 
Design standards (www.securedbydesign.com).   
 
07 
The planning permission is subject to a Legal Agreement (Obligation) under 
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. The S106 
Agreement is legally binding and is registered as a Local Land Charge. It is 
normally enforceable against the people entering into the agreement and any 
subsequent owner of the site.  
 
POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT 
 
The applicant and the Local Planning Authority engaged in pre application 
discussions to consider the development before the submission of the 
planning application.  The application was submitted on the basis of these 
discussions, or was amended to accord with them.  It was considered to be in 
accordance with the principles of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

 

 

Page 68

http://www.securedbydesign.com/


 
 

1 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
A GUIDE TO ENABLE 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION IN 
VIRTUAL MEETINGS 

ORGANISED BY 
ROTHERHAM COUNCIL 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

An information guide on Microsoft Teams. 
 

Date  Author  

June 2020 Blake Wetherill (Support & Provisioning Manager - Customer, Information & Digital Services) 
Vicky Hartley (Executive Office Manager – Democratic Services) 

 

 

Page 69 Agenda Annex



 
 

2 
 

 

GUIDE CONTENTS  

 
 

Pages 

Participation in a Virtual Meeting organised by Rotherham MBC 
 

 

How can I participate in a virtual meeting? 
 

3 

Introduction to Microsoft Teams  
 

 

What is Microsoft Teams? 
 

3 

 Setting up Microsoft Teams  
 

 

Downloading the Microsoft Teams app 
➢ iPhone  
➢ Android and other phones 

 

4 & 5 

Joining a Virtual Meeting  
 

 

How do I connect and join as a guest in Microsoft Teams? 
 

6 – 8  

Useful Tips  
 

 

Useful Tips in preparing to join virtual meetings 
 

9 & 10  

 

  

Page 70



 
 

3 
 

 

HOW CAN I PARTICPATE IN A VIRTUAL MEETING ORGANISED BY THE COUNCIL?  

 

 
In order to participate in the virtual meeting organised by Rotherham Council you will need to 
download MS Teams software from the internet.   
 
There is no cost to do this and you will need to allow plenty of time to do this as it can take 
up to 15 minutes to download. 
 
Please do ensure that you download the MS Teams software well in advance of the meeting. 
 
 
 

WHAT IS MICROSOFT TEAMS? 

 

 

 
 
 

Microsoft Teams is a persistent chat-based collaboration platform complete with document 
sharing, online meetings, and many more extremely useful features for communications.  

It is extremely user-friendly and can facilitate a work environment between remote users. 

Rotherham Council has opted to use Microsoft Teams as the software of choice for virtual 
meetings as it enables contributions from people using a wide variety of devices, not all of 
whom are on the Council network.  It is free for members of the public to download and 
offers a good level of security for all. 

Further Information  

Further information can be located on the Microsoft website. 

Video Training  

If you would find it helpful to view video training direct from the Microsoft website click here. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 71

Further%20information%20can%20be%20located%20here.
https://support.office.com/en-us/article/microsoft-teams-video-training-4f108e54-240b-4351-8084-b1089f0d21d7?wt.mc_id=otc_home


 
 

4 
 

 

GUIDANCE ON HOW TO DOWNLOAD THE TEAMS APP  

 

 

For IPhone  

 

If you have an iPhone, click on the App store icon, it should look similar to this:  

 

Type the word Teams in the search box:                                                                                                   

 

The Teams app will be displayed, click on the Get button. The app will begin to 

download.  

 

Once the app has downloaded, click on Open – Your device is now ready to start 

using Teams!  

Page 72



 
 

5 
 

 

When you receive a Teams meeting invitation, once you click on the ‘join the teams 
meeting’ link, the Teams app will automatically open ready for you to take part in the 
meeting. 
 
 
For Android and other phones 

 
• Click the Play Store icon and type ‘Teams or Microsoft Teams’ in the search box. 
 

• Click on download. Once the app has downloaded, click on Open – Your device 
is now ready to start using Teams!  

 

• When you receive a Teams meeting invitation, once you click on the ‘join the 
teams meeting’ link, the Teams app will automatically open ready for you to take 
part in the meeting.  

  

Page 73



 
 

6 
 

 

HOW TO JOIN A MEETING AS A GUEST IN MICROSOFT TEAMS  

 

 
If you have been invited to a Microsoft Teams meeting, you should have received an email 
with a link. You can use a laptop or mobile device (tablet or phone) to take part in the 
meeting.  

Downloading the Teams app to your device 

You will need to have downloaded the Microsoft Teams app to your device in advance of the 
meeting. Please allow yourself plenty of time to do this as it can take up to 15 minutes. 

Here is how to join as a guest: 

Step 1 – The Meeting Invite  

Check your email for the Teams Meeting invite and click the Join Microsoft Teams 
Meeting link. 

Join Microsoft Teams Meeting  

Learn more about Teams | Meeting options  

Select the link before the meeting is due to start, to allow time for any problems you may 
encounter. You can add the meeting to your calendar in advance if you prefer and return to 
this when the meeting is due to take place. 

________________________________________________________________________________  

Joining by Tele-Conference 

If you are unable to join by Microsoft Teams and have specified the need to join the meeting 
by telephone, the diary invite will clearly specify dial-in details.  The diary invite will look like 
this and you will need to use the allocated telephone number and conference ID pin 
provided. 

Join Microsoft Teams Meeting  

+[telephone number]   United Kingdom, London (Toll)  

Conference ID: xxx xxx xxx#  

Local numbers | Reset PIN | Learn more about Teams | Meeting options  

_____________________________________________________________________________  

Step 2 – Joining the meeting 

When you select the ‘Join Microsoft Teams meeting link, depending on whether you’ve 
joined from a web browser or IOS or Android tablet device, there will be different options for 
joining. 

Page 74

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_YWUwZWEyYjAtNmIxYy00MDAzLWE3NGQtZjRhODgzY2E3MGNk%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2246fbe6fd-78ae-4769-9c1d-bcea97378af6%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22405b88b3-5767-48d1-b311-288196a367bb%22%7d
https://aka.ms/JoinTeamsMeeting
https://teams.microsoft.com/meetingOptions/?organizerId=405b88b3-5767-48d1-b311-288196a367bb&tenantId=46fbe6fd-78ae-4769-9c1d-bcea97378af6&threadId=19_meeting_YWUwZWEyYjAtNmIxYy00MDAzLWE3NGQtZjRhODgzY2E3MGNk@thread.v2&messageId=0&language=en-US
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_ZjMxNWMzMTctZmFhMC00OTgyLTg3MjgtYmExZWUzNTFmMzgx%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2246fbe6fd-78ae-4769-9c1d-bcea97378af6%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22091eaaa1-f5c1-43b8-a6a6-1910a3d35042%22%7d
tel:+44%2020%203321%205256,,159467067# 
https://dialin.teams.microsoft.com/64a60b34-38ab-4705-a43a-1acd42f891bf?id=159467067
https://mysettings.lync.com/pstnconferencing
https://aka.ms/JoinTeamsMeeting
https://teams.microsoft.com/meetingOptions/?organizerId=091eaaa1-f5c1-43b8-a6a6-1910a3d35042&tenantId=46fbe6fd-78ae-4769-9c1d-bcea97378af6&threadId=19_meeting_ZjMxNWMzMTctZmFhMC00OTgyLTg3MjgtYmExZWUzNTFmMzgx@thread.v2&messageId=0&language=en-US


 
 

7 
 

From a Web Browser (e.g. PC or Laptop) 

You will see one of the following two screens: 

Example 1 

 

 Example 2 
 

Choose to join the meeting ‘on the instead’ (Example 1) or ‘Continue on this browser’ 
(Example 2). Your browser will then ask you to use your webcam and microphone, 
so be sure to accept both. This ensures you’ll be seen and heard during the meeting. 

From a Mobile Device (e.g tablet or smartphone) 

You will be given two options for joining your meeting: Join as a guest or Sign in and join. 

Choose Join as a guest. 

 

Page 75



 
 

8 
 

 

Step 3 

Once you’ve launched Microsoft Teams, you will have to enter your name and 
choose your audio and video settings. You can click or tap off your microphone or 
camera/webcam.  

 

Once you’re ready, you can click or tap on the purple Join now button. 

 

 

Step 4 

Finally, you’ll be put into the meeting lobby. Once you’re in the lobby, the meeting 
organiser will be notified that you are there, and you will be admitted in.  

If no one has admitted you into the meeting within 15 minutes of joining, you’ll be 
removed from the lobby, and you will need to join again.  

  

Page 76



 
 

9 
 

 
USEFUL TIPS FOR GUESTS IN PREPARING TO JOIN MICROSOFT TEAM VIRTUAL 
MEETINGS   
 

 

It is advisable that you trial MS Teams beforehand so you are comfortable with the use of 
the software. 
 
Testing software 

 

Are you confident on how to access the meeting? 

 

• Has your laptop / other hardware got a camera? 
• Does your microphone work? 
• Does your headset work (if using one)? 
• Do your speakers work (if using those)? 
• Is your IPad / Laptop fully charged and working appropriately? 

 
Identity presentation 
 
Ensure that you position yourself in the viewing frame so that Members/viewers can see 
your shoulders and face. 
 
Treatment of other household electronic devices 
 
Where possible, it is advisable to remove other electronic devices from the room in which 
you are located, or switch them off. There is a potential for interference and/or feedback 
during livestreaming arising from electronic equipment. Of particular note is the potential for 
slow connectivity when large amounts of the bandwidth are taken by other device users in 
the household (if at home), especially those who may be active on gaming equipment. 

Telephones 
 
Ensure that all phones, landline and/or mobiles are switched to silent throughout the course 
of your participation in the meeting so that you can be heard clearly. 

Surroundings 
 
Have a look at where you are planning to access the meeting. The environment should be 
quiet with no interruptions. You may to consider how you can prevent interruptions from 
others in the household. A sign on the door is useful and/or verbal notification of the event. 

Lighting 
 
Can you be seen clearly? If you sit next to a light, is there a brightness that glares in your 
face obscuring the viewing frame. Viewers will want to be able to see who you are. Is there 
glare from a window behind you? 

Timing of the Meeting 
 
Meetings begin promptly so it is advisable that you are sat in the virtual lobby awaiting 
access at that time. 

Page 77



 
 

10 
 

What Happens if Something Goes Wrong? 
 
Technology 
 
If your connection drops away from the event, you can resume by going back to the original 
MS Outlook invitation to the meeting and click on the Join MS Teams Meeting link again to 
re-join.  
 
It will be noted if you have dropped away from the meeting and wait for you to re-enter the 
virtual lobby where you will be admitted at the appropriate time. 
 
If the whole meeting ceases due to technical issues, all reasonable endeavours will be made 
to resume.  
 
Inappropriate infiltration by uninvited third parties 
 
There have been cases across the country where a handful of virtual meetings have had 
sabotage attempts by third parties where inappropriate content has been shared publicly 
both verbally and visually.   
 
The Council may choose to temporarily adjourn the live meeting if this occurs until the third 
party can be exited from broadcast. This is one of the exceptional circumstances when a 
meeting may be paused. In this event, the meeting will be reintroduced from the point it was 
interrupted with explanatory wording and it will continue thereafter.  
 
If you are waiting in the virtual lobby and an adjournment occurs, please remain waiting. 
 
 
 

 

Page 78


	Agenda
	4 Declarations of Interest
	5 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 18th March, 2021
	6 Deferments/Site Visits (information attached)
	7 Development Proposals
	COMREP - 08042021 (003)

	 

